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Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U.

Auditors’ report on the financial statements issued by an independent auditor

To the Sole Shareholder of Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U.:

Report on the annual financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. (the Company), comprising the balance
sheet at 31 December 2019, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of changes in equity, the statement
of cash flows, and the report corresponding to the year then ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the
equity and financial position of the Company at 31 December 2019, and the results of its operations and cash
flows corresponding to the year then ended, in accordance with the applicable regulatory financial reporting
framework (identified in Note 1.2 to the report) and, in particular, to the accounting principles and criteria
contained therein.

Basis for the opinion

We performed our audit in accordance with the regulations governing financial auditing in force in Spain. Our
responsibilities under those regulations are later described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with ethics requirements, including those relating to
independence, which are applicable to our audit of the financial statements in Spain pursuant to the
regulations governing financial auditing. Consequently, we have not provided services other than financial
auditing, nor have we involved ourselves in situations or circumstances which, in accordance with the
abovementioned regulatory standards, have affected independence to the extent where it is compromised.

We believe that the audit evidence we obtained provides a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those which, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters have been addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters Handling of the audit

Impairment due to credit risk

Determining impairment due to credit risk is one
of the most significant and complex
measurements when preparing the accompanying
financial statements. This determination concerns
a process that involves judgements and estimates,
as well as mass data processing, and is conducted
according to the various types of these assets,
and, for this reason, it was a relevant issue in our
audit.

The assessment of credit risk impairment is based
on collective estimates of the hedges, using the
Company's various internal models based on the
different portfolios, or credit risk segments.

The measurement models used have a major
bearing on the judgement and estimation for
determining the expected losses due to credit risk
impairment, considering aspects such as the
following:

 Classification of the various credit portfolios
according to their risk and asset type.

 The staging of impaired assets or assets with
a significant increase in risk.

 The use of assumptions with a significant
effect on the provisions for credit risk, such
as macroeconomic scenarios and their
likelihood of occurring, expected life of the
operation and existence of prepayments,
among others.

 The construction of the parameters for these
models, such as the probability of
impairment and impairment losses.

Our work has included the involvement of internal
specialists in credit risk models and has focused on
the analysis, assessment and verification of internal
control, as well as on conducting detailed tests on the
collectively estimated provisions.

As regards the internal control system, among others,
we have carried out the following procedures:

 Verifying the suitability of the different working
policies and procedures, as well as of the
approved internal models, in complying with the
applicable regulatory requirements and the
governance model.

 Reviewing the regular risk assessment and
monitoring alerts carried out by the Company's
Management, under the terms laid down in Note
3.3 to the accompanying financial statements.

We have also carried out detailed tests comprising:

 Reviewing the methodology and verifications of
the main models with regard to: i) segmentation
and calculation methods; ii) criteria for staging
credit assets and for classifying real estate assets
according to their category; iii) estimation of the
expected loss parameters (probability of
impairment and realisable value of the
guarantees); iv) reliability and consistency of the
historic and prospective information used; and v)
recalibrations and backtesting conducted in
internal models.

 Reviewing the operation of the "calculation
engine" and re-executing the calculation of
collective provisions of the credit risk
impairment estimate model for the credit
portfolio and comparing them with the results
recorded in the financial statements.
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The Company's Management regularly performs
recalibrations on its internal credit risk models,
seeking to optimise their predictive capacity, and
updating, where applicable, the variables
considered or the algorithms used, as well as
backtesting to compare estimates of estimated
expected losses with those actually incurred.

See Notes 2.5, 3.3 and 10 to the accompanying
financial statements.

 Reviewing the supporting documentation from a
sample of credit operations obtained from the
Company's IT applications, and comparing the
accuracy of the system's data.

As a result of our tests on the calculations and
estimates of the amount of impairment due to credit
risk, no differences – above a reasonable range –
have been identified, in the amounts recorded in the
accompanying financial statements.

Other information: Management report

Other information exclusively covers the 2019 management report, the preparation of which is the
responsibility of the Company’s directors and is not an integral part of the financial statements.

Our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover the management report. Our responsibility for
the management report, pursuant to the requirements of the regulations governing financial auditing,
comprises assessing and reporting on the consistency of the management report with the financial statements,
based on the knowledge of the Company obtained when conducting the audit of the aforementioned
statements and without including information other than that obtained as evidence during the audit.
Furthermore, we are responsible for assessing and providing information if the content and presentation of the
management report complies with applicable standards. If we conclude that there are material mistakes based
on the work that we have completed, we are required to report them.

Based on the work carried out, as described in the previous paragraph, the information contained in the
management report is in line with that of the 2019 financial statements and its content and presentation are in
accordance with the applicable regulations.

Responsibility of the directors and the Audit and Risk Committee in relation to auditing of the financial
statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the accompanying financial statements in order that they give a
true and fair view of the equity, financial position and results of the Company, in accordance with the
regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Company in Spain, and for such internal control as is
deemed necessary to enable the financial statements to be prepared free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the ability of
the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, where applicable, going-concern-related matters and
using the going-concern accounting principle unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to
cease its operations, or there is no realistic alternative.

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for overseeing the process of preparing and presenting the
financial statements.
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Auditor’s responsibilities in relation to the auditing of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements as a whole are free of material
misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit report which contains our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it does not guarantee that an audit completed in
accordance with the regulations governing financial auditing in force in Spain will always detect a material
misstatement where it exists. Misstatements can emerge due to fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or jointly, it can be reasonably predicted that they will influence the economic decisions made by
users based on the financial statements.

As part of an audit pursuant to the regulations governing financial auditing in force in Spain, we apply our
professional judgement and exercise professional scepticism during the audit. Furthermore:

 We identify and assess the risks of material misstatements in the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, we design and apply audit procedures to respond to these risks, and we obtain sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement due to fraud is higher than for a material misstatement due to error, as fraud can involve
collusion, forgery, deliberate omissions, intentionally incorrect statements or avoidance of internal
controls.

 We obtain knowledge about the relevant internal control for the audit in order to design appropriate
audit procedures in accordance with the circumstances but not in order to express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

 We assess if the applied accounting policies are appropriate, as well as the reasonableness of accounting
estimations and corresponding information revealed by directors.

 We conclude if the use of the going-concern accounting principle by the directors is appropriate and,
based on the obtained audit evidence, we conclude if there is material uncertainty related to the facts
or conditions which can create significant doubts regarding the Company’s ability to continue to
operate. If we conclude that there is a material uncertainty, we must call attention to the corresponding
information revealed in the financial statements in our report or, if these revelations are not
appropriate, we express a modified opinion. Our conclusions are based on audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our audit report. However future facts and conditions can cause the Company to cease to
continue as a going concern.

 We assess the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that presents a true and fair view.
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We communicate with the Company's Audit and Risk Committee regarding – among other matters – the
planned scope and timing of the audit and the significant audit findings, as well as any significant internal
control deficiencies that we identify during the audit.

We also provide the Company's Audit and Risk Committee with a statement that we have met the applicable
ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and we inform them of any matters that may
reasonably be deemed to have a bearing on our independence and, where applicable, the corresponding
safeguards.

Among the matters reported to the audit Company's Audit and Risk Committee, we determine those that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements for the current period and which are, therefore, the
key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our audit report unless legal or regulatory provisions prohibit the public
disclosure of the matter.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Additional report to the Audit and Risk Committee

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the provisions of our additional report for the
Company's Audit and Risk Committee on 15 April 2020.

Term of engagement

The Sole Shareholder, in the minutes of 11 May 2017, appointed us as auditors for a period of three years,
starting from the year ended 31 December 2018.

Services provided

The audit services and permitted services other than the audit of the financial statements that have been
provided to the Company are disclosed in Note 26 to the accompanying financial statements.
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Financial Statements and Management Report that the
Board of Directors agreed to submit for the approval of
the Sole Shareholder, at a meeting held on 26 March 2020.
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BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
(Thousands of euros)

NOTE 31-12-2019 31-12-2018 (*)

Cash and cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 89 152
Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income 9 3,709 3,775

Equity instruments 3,709 3,775
Financial assets at amortised cost 10 1,485,812 1,477,393

Debt securities 4,699
Loans and advances 1,485,812 1,472,694

Customers 1,485,812 1,472,694
Tangible assets 12 3,758 866

Property, plant and equipment 3,758 866
For own use 3,758 866

Intangible assets 13 1,040 635
Other intangible assets 1,040 635

Tax assets 21,738 16,880
Current tax assets 2 2
Deferred tax assets 18 21,736 16,878

Other assets 14 16,712 12,670
Other assets 16,712 12,670

TOTAL ASSETS 1,532,858 1,512,371

Memorandum items

Off-balance-sheet exposures

Loan commitments given 19 430 475

Financial guarantees given 19 88 87

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1)
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BALANCE SHEET
LIABILITIES
(Thousands of euros)

NOTE 31-12-2019 31-12-2018 (*)
Financial liabilities held for trading 73

Derivatives 73
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 15 1,132,641 1,134,774

Deposits 1,128,718 1,134,372
Credit institutions 1,086,392 1,091,325
Customers 42,326 43,047

Other financial liabilities 3,923 402
Derivatives - Hedge accounting 54 202
Provisions 16 445 345

Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations 434 336
Commitments and guarantees given 11 9

Tax liabilities 17,003 18,778
Current tax liabilities 16,970 18,725
Deferred tax liabilities 18 33 53

Other liabilities 14 24,115 25,192
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,174,258 1,179,364
(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1).

EQUITY
(Thousands of euros)

NOTE 31-12-2019 31-12-2018 (*)

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 17 358,509 333,013

Capital 90,186 90,186
Retained earnings 216,774 195,286
Other reserves 16,845 16,845
Profit/(loss) for the period 34,704 30,696
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 91 (6)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 123 183
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans 46 60
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in other
comprehensive income 77 123

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (32) (189)
Hedging derivatives. Reserve of cash flow hedges [effective portion] (32) (189)

TOTAL EQUITY 358,600 333,007

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,532,858 1,512,371

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1).
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(Thousands of euros)

NOTE 2019 2018 (*)
Interest income 21 129,914 133,456

Financial assets at amortised cost 129,914 133,456

Interest expenses 22 (6,179) (7,792)

NET INTEREST INCOME 123,735 125,664

Dividend income 8 7

Fee and commission income 23 9,949 10,361

Fee and commission expenses 23 (2,710) (2,640)

Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net (39) (107)

Other gains or losses (39) (107)

Other operating income 24 13,083 10,738

Other operating expenses 24 (410) (303)

GROSS INCOME 143,616 143,720

Administrative expenses (29,833) (29,919)

Personnel expenses 25 (2,585) (2,538)

Other administrative expenses 26 (27,248) (27,381)

Depreciation
12 and

13 (696) (247)

Provisions or reversal of provisions 16 (81) (85)

Impairment/(reversal) of impairment losses on financial assets not measured at fair value through
profit or loss or net profit or loss due to a change 27 (63,296) (69,483)

Financial assets at amortised cost (63,296) (69,483)

Gains/(losses) on derecognition of non-financial assets, net (20) (124)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 49,690 43,862

Tax expense or income related to profit or loss from continuing operations (14,986) (13,166)

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 34,704 30,696

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 34,704 30,696
(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1).
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (PART A)

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018 (*)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 34,704 30,696

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 97 428

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (60) 42

Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pension plans (19) 22

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in other comprehensive
income (66) 60

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 25 (40)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 157 386

Cash flow hedges (effective portion) 224 552

Valuation gains/(losses) taken to equity 455 (29)

Transferred to profit or loss (231) 581

Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (67) (166)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 34,801 31,124

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1).
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (PART B)
STATEMENT OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Thousands of euros)

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

ACCUMULATE
D OTHER

COMPREHENSI
VE INCOME TOTALNOTE CAPITAL

SHARE
PREMIUM

OTHER EQUITY
ITEMS

RETAINED
EARNINGS

OTHER
RESERVES

LESS: OWN
SHARES

PROFIT/(LOSS)
FOR THE
PERIOD

LESS: INTERIM
DIVIDENDS

OPENING BALANCE AT 31-12-2017 90,186 153,167 42,034 (494) 284,893

Effects of changes in accounting policies 85 16,845 60 16,990

BALANCE AT 31-12-2017 90,186 153,252 16,845 42,034 (434) 301,883

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 30,696 428 31,124

OTHER CHANGES IN EQUITY 42,034 (42,034)

Dividends (or remuneration to shareholders)

Transfers among components of equity 42,034 (42,034)

Other increase/(decrease) in equity

OPENING BALANCE AT 31-12-2018 (*) 90,186 195,286 16,845 30,696 (6) 333,007

Effects of corrections of errors

Effects of changes in accounting policies

OPENING BALANCE AT 01-01-2018 90,186 195,286 16,845 30,696 (6) 333,007

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 34,704 97 34,801

OTHER CHANGES IN EQUITY 21,488 (30,696) (9,208)

Dividends (or remuneration to shareholders) 6 (9,208) (9,208)

Transfers among components of equity 30,696 (30,696)

Other increase/(decrease) in equity

CLOSING BALANCE AT 31-12-2019 90,186 216,774 16,845 34,704 91 358,600

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1)
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (INDIRECT METHOD)

(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018 (*)

A) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 13,139 1,258

Profit/(loss) for the period 34,704 30,696

Adjustments to obtain cash flows from operating activities 64,112 70,047

Depreciation 696 247

Other adjustments 63,416 69,800

Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets (80,593) (140,867)

Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income 20 (18)

Financial assets at amortised cost (71,714) (153,550)

Other operating assets (8,899) 12,701

Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities (5,084) 41,382

Financial liabilities held for trading (73) (251)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (2,160) 41,535

Other operating liabilities (2,851) 98

B) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,993) (1,213)

Payments: (3,993) (1,213)

Tangible assets (3,388) (757)

Intangible assets (605) (456)

C) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (9,209) 0

Payments: (9,209) 0

Dividends (9,209)

E) NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D) (63) 45

F) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 152 107

G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (E+F) 89 152

COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

Cash and cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 89 152

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 89 152

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2019

As required by current legislation governing the content of financial statements, these notes to the financial statements complete,

extend and discuss the balance sheet, statement of profit or loss, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows, and

form an integral part of them to give a true and fair view of the equity and financial position of Nuevo Micro Bank at 31 December

2019, and the results of its operations, the changes in equity and the cash flows during the year then ended.

1. Corporate information, basis of presentation and other information

Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. (Hereinafter, MicroBank or the Company) with tax ID number A65619421 and registered office in Madrid,

Calle Aduana, number 18, is a public limited company incorporated on 28 July 2011, arising from the transformation process of the

"la Caixa" Group businesses, and successor to the microcredit business. The Company is registered in the Bank of Spain register of

financial credit institutions and is subject to its supervision.

The corporate purpose of MicroBank chiefly entails:

 receiving public funds in the form of irregular deposits or in other similar formats, in order to use them in its own active credit

and microcredit operations. In other words, granting unsecured loans, in order to finance the small business initiatives of people

and micro-enterprises, which, due to their socio-economic characteristics, have difficulties accessing traditional banking

financing, and other investments with or without pledge collateral, mortgage guarantees or other types of collateral, providing

customers with remittance, transfer and brokerage services.

 The development and marketing of socially responsible products that contribute to sustainable social or environmental

development.

The Company is part of CaixaBank Group, the parent company of which (CaixaBank, S.A.) wholly owns its share capital. Therefore, it

is subject to the single-member regime. CaixaBank, S.A. (hereinafter, CaixaBank), with registered office in Valencia, Calle Pintor

Sorolla, no. 2-4 is the entity that formulates these consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of the

CaixaBank Group are deposited in the Commercial Register of Valencia and are drawn up within the established legal period. The

2019 consolidated financial statements of CaixaBank Group were drawn up by its Directors at the meeting of its Board of Directors

on 20 February 2020.

The Company's financial statements have been prepared by the Board of Directors in accordance with the regulatory financial

reporting framework applicable to the Company at 31 December 2019, established by Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 of 27 November

and its successive amendments effective at the year-end.

The financial statements, which were prepared from the accounting records of the Company, are presented in accordance with the

regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to them and, in particular, with the accounting principles and rules contained

therein and, accordingly, present fairly the Company’s equity, financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the

corresponding financial year.

The figures are presented in thousands of euros unless the use of another monetary unit is stated. Certain financial information in

these notes was rounded off and, consequently, the figures shown herein as totals may differ slightly from the arithmetic sum of the

individual figures given before them. Similarly, in deciding what information to disclose in this report, its materiality was assessed in

relation to the annual financial data.

Accounting standard issued by the Bank of Spain that has come into effect during 2019

1.1. Corporate information

1.2. Basis of presentation
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On 21 December 2018, the Bank of Spain published Circular 2/2018, which amended Circular 4/2017 by the transposition of the

International Financial Reporting Standard 16 (IFRS 16) on leasing contracts.

This standard establishes the principles applicable to the recognition, assessment and presentation of leases, as well as the

disclosures in this regard.

Its first-time adoption date is 1 January 2019. There are relevant differences as regards the accounting standards applicable to date

on leases, namely the accounting treatment given to the lessee, as there are no changes in terms of how these agreements are

recognised by the lessor.

The impact of the adoption of this standard on the Company is described in Note 1.4, after considering the provisions in the transitory

provisions for application of the standard (see section “Comparison of information”).

The Company's financial statements for 2019 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors at a meeting held on 26 March

2020. They have not yet been approved by its Sole Shareholder, although they are expected to be approved without any changes.

The financial statements of the previous year were approved by the Sole Shareholder of the Company on 27 March 2019.

The preparation of the financial statements required the Board of Directors to make certain judgments, estimates and assumptions

in order quantify some of the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and obligations shown in them. These judgments and estimates

mainly refer to:

 The criterion for timing of recognition in profit and loss of income from ancillary activities provided (Note 2).

 Impairment losses on financial assets, and of the fair value of guarantees associated thereto, according to their classification in

accounts, which entail the need to make judgements regarding: i) the consideration of 'a significant increase in credit risk' (SICR),

ii) the definition of default; and iii) the inclusion of forward-looking information (Note 3).

 The useful life of and impairment losses on tangible assets and intangible assets (Notes 12 and 13).

 Actuarial assumptions used to measure post-employment liabilities and obligations (Note 16).

 The measurement of the provisions required to cover labour, legal and tax contingencies (Note 16).

 The corporation tax expense based on the tax rate expected for the full year and the capitalisation and recoverability of tax assets

(Note 18).

 The fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities (Note 28).

These estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at the date of authorisation for issue of the financial

statements. However, events may occur that make it necessary for them to be changed in future periods. According to applicable

legislation, the effects of these changes would be recognised prospectively in the corresponding statement of profit or loss.

Figures for 2018, included in the accompanying financial statements for 2019, are presented for comparative purposes only, although

certain breakdowns have varied or had their denominations adapted to reflect the true image of the Company's financial situation

within the Group to which it belongs, however, these amendments have no significance.

Circular 2/2018

As stated in this note, in the "Basis of presentation" section, from 1 January 2019, the Company has applied Circular 2/2018 of 21

December. Along these lines, it has opted not to reassess whether an agreement is a lease or contains a leasing component in

accordance with the standard's criteria, applying it solely for agreements that had been identified as leases according to the previous

standard.

1.3. Responsibility for the information and
for the estimates made

1.4. Comparison of information
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For leases in which the Company intervenes as lessee, previously classified as operating leases, the Company has opted to apply the

new leasing criteria retroactively through the modified retrospective approach, whereby enabling an estimation of the value of the

right of use by referencing the financial liability in operations; generating no adjustment in reserves whatsoever at 1 January 2019.

Additionally, the Group has decided to exclude from the scope, in accordance with the simplifications considered in the new

regulatory framework on financial information, lease agreements whose term expires within the twelve months following the initial

application date.

The main type of contracts identified for which a right-of-use asset and a lease liability had to be estimated at 1 January 2019 are real

estate leases (office buildings) in connection with the operating activity.

The breakdowns, at 31 December 2018, of balance sheet items referring to lease agreements in this report have not been restated,

which is why it cannot be compared with the information referring to 31 December 2019.

The reconciliation between operational lease commitments at 31 December 2018 and the lease liabilities recorded on 1 January 2019

in application of Circular 2/2018 is as follows:

COMMITMENTS FOR OPERATIONAL LEASES
(Thousands of euros)

COMMITMENTS FOR OPERATIONAL LEASES AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 3,834

Different processing of the lease term

Separation of non-leasing components (382)

Other adjustments (includes the financial discount on future payments) (151)

LEASE LIABILITIES AT 1 JANUARY 2019 3,301

Discount rate applied (according to the term) [0.10-0.96]%

The nature of the most significant operations conducted by the Company have no relevant cyclical or seasonal nature within the

same year.

At year-end, the Company holds no direct ownership interest equal to or greater than 5% of the capital or voting rights in any national
or international credit institution.

CaixaBank, S.A., an entity registered in the Bank of Spain Register of Credit Institutions, holds 100% of the Company's capital and
voting rights.

In accordance with article 10 of Regulation (EC) No 2819/98, institutions authorised to send statistical information on a consolidated

basis must hold minimum reserves through a group company acting as an intermediary exclusively for these companies. In the case

of CaixaBank Group to which the Company belongs, CaixaBank, is responsible for holding the position with the European Central

Bank.

1.6. Holdings in the capital of credit

institutions

1.7. Reserve ratio

1.5. Seasonality of operations
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The global spread of COVID-19 has generated an unprecedented health crisis to date. This event significantly affects economic activity

and, as a result, could affect the financial situation of the Company. The measurement of the impact will depend on future

developments that cannot be reliably predicted, including actions to contain the illness or treat it and curb its impact on the

economies of the affected countries. As a result of the foregoing, currently, it is not recommended to forecast the medium-term

macroeconomic outlook, or the supporting social and economic policies that are being implemented by the governments of the

affected countries, among others. Since it belong to the CaixaBank Group, the Company has the necessary business continuity

measures in the event of crises.

1.8. Events after the reporting period
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2. Accounting policies and measurement bases

The following accounting principles and policies, and measurement bases, used in the preparation of the financial statements of the
Company for 2019 were as follows:

Classification of the financial assets

The criteria established by the regulatory framework for accounting for classifying financial instruments is set out below:

Investments in equity instruments are an exception to the aforementioned general assessment criteria. In general, the Company

irrevocably exercises the option in the initial recognition by including – in the portfolio of financial assets at fair value with changes

in other comprehensive income – investments in equity instruments that are not classified as held for trading and that, in the event

of not exercising this option, would be classified as financial assets compulsorily measured at fair value through profit or loss.

As for the assessment of the business model, this does not depend on the intentions for an individual instrument, but instead it is

determined for a set of instruments, taking into account the frequency, amount and schedule of the sales in previous years, the

reasons for these sales and the expectations for futures sales. The infrequent or insignificant sales, those near to the maturity of the

asset and driven by increased credit risk of the financial assets or to manage the concentration risk, among others, can be compatible

with the model of holding assets to receive contractual cash flows.

If a financial asset contains a contractual condition under which the schedule or amount of its contractual cash flows can be modified

(e.g. if the asset can be redeemed in advance or if maturity can be extended), the Company determines whether the contractual cash

flows the instrument generates over its life are solely principal and interest payments on the outstanding principal. To this end, the

contractual cash flows that may be generated before and after the change to the schedule or the amount of the contractual cash

flows are taken into consideration.

In turn, in the case of a financial asset with a periodic adjustment of the interest rate, but where the frequency of this adjustment

does not match the term of the reference interest rate (e.g. the interest rate is adjusted every three months to the one-year rate),

at the time of the initial recognition, the Entity assesses this mismatch in the interest component to determine whether the

contractual cash flows represent solely principal and interest payments on the amount of principal outstanding.

The contractual conditions that, at the time of the initial recognition, have a minimum effect on the cash flows or depend on

exceptional and highly unlikely events taking place (such as liquidation of the issuer) do not prevent the asset from being classified

in the amortised cost portfolio or fair value portfolio with changes recorded in other comprehensive income.

2.1. Financial instruments
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Classification of the financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified under: “Financial liabilities held for trading”, “Financial liabilities designated at fair value through

profit or loss” and “Financial liabilities at amortised cost”, unless they must be presented under “Liabilities included in disposal groups

classified as held for sale” or relate to “Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk” or “Derivatives

– Hedge accounting”, which are presented separately.

Particularly, the portfolio "Financial liabilities at amortised cost": includes financial liabilities not classified as financial liabilities held

for trading or as other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The balances recognised in this category, irrespective of

the substances of the contractual arrangement and maturity of such liabilities, arise from the ordinary deposit capture activities of

credit institutions.

Initial recognition and measurement

Upon initial recognition, all financial instruments are recognised at fair value. For the financial instruments that are not registered at

fair value through profit or loss, the fair value amount is adjusted, adding or deducting transaction costs directly attributable to the

acquisition or issuance thereof. In the case of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, the directly attributable

transaction costs are immediately recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

The transaction costs are defined as expenses directly attributable to the acquisition or drawdown of a financial asset, or to the

issuance or assumption of a financial liability, which would not have been incurred if the Entity had not made the transaction. These

include fees paid to intermediaries (such as prescribers); mortgage arrangement expenses borne by the Company; and part of the

personnel expenses in the Risk Acceptance Centres. Under no circumstances are the internal administrative costs or those deriving

from prior research and analysis considered transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of the financial assets

After its initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at amortised cost, at fair value with changes in other

comprehensive income, at fair value through profit or loss, or at cost.

The receivables for trading operations that do not have a significant financing component and the commercial loans and debt

instruments issued with no contractual interest rate that are initially measured by the price of the transaction or its principal,

respectively, continue to be measured by said amount less the valuation adjustment due to estimated impairment as described in

section 2.5.

Income and expenses of the financial assets and liabilities

The income and expenses of financial instruments at amortised cost are recognised according to the following criteria:
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Reclassifications between financial instrument portfolios

Only in the event the Company decides to change its financial asset management business model, would all the affected financial
assets be reclassified according to the provisions set out in Circular 4/2017. This reclassification would be carried out prospectively
from the date of the reclassification. In accordance with the Circular 4/2017 approach, in general, changes in the business model
occur very infrequently. Financial liabilities cannot be reclassified between portfolios.

The Company uses financial derivatives as a financial risk management tool, mainly the structural rate risk (see Note 3). When these

transactions meet certain requirements, they qualify for hedge accounting.

When a transaction is designated as a hedge, this is done at inception of the transaction or of the instruments included in the hedge

and a technical note of the transaction is documented in accordance with the regulations in force. The hedge accounting

documentation duly identifies the hedging instrument/s and hedged item/s, the nature of the risk to be hedged and the way in which

the Entity assesses whether the hedging relationship meets the requirements of hedging effectiveness (together with the analysis of

the causes of failed protection and the way in which the coverage ratio is determined).

For the purpose of verifying the effectiveness requirement:

2.2. Accounting hedges
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 There must be an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument,

 The credit risk of the hedged item's counterparty or of the hedging instrument should not have a dominant effect on changes in

value resulting from said economic relationship, and

 It is essential to comply with the coverage ratio of the hedging accounting relationship, which is defined as the relationship

between the quantity of the hedged item and the quantity of the hedging instrument, and it must be the same as the coverage

ratio used for management purposes.

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised

financial asset or liability or with a highly probable forecast transaction and could affect profit or loss.

The amount adjusted on the hedging item is recognised in “Accumulated other comprehensive income – Items that may be

reclassified to profit or loss – Hedging derivatives. Reserve of cash flow hedges [effective portion]" where they will remain until the

forecast transaction occurs, at which point it will be recognised in "Gains/(losses) from hedge accounting, net" of the statement of

profit or loss. However, if it is expected that the transaction will not be carried out, it will be recognised immediately in the statement

of profit or loss.

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the balance statement when, and only when, the

Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously, taking the following into consideration:

 The legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts should not be contingent on a future event and must be legally

enforceable in all circumstances, including cases of default or insolvency of any or all of the counterparties.

 Settlements are considered equivalent to 'net settlement' that meet the following requirements: they totally eliminate or result

in insignificant credit and liquidity risk; and settlement of the asset and liability is made in a single settlement process.

The Company did not carry out any financial asset and liability offsetting operations in 2019 and 2018.

All or part of a financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or when
the entity transfers the asset to a third party outside the entity.

The accounting treatment of transfers of financial assets depends on the extent to which the risks and rewards associated with
ownership of the transferred assets are transferred to third parties:

 If, substantially, all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset are transferred (such as in the case of, among

others: unconditional sales, a sale with an option to repurchase the financial asset at its fair value at the time of repurchase, a

sale of a financial asset together with a put or call option that is deep out of the money), it is derecognised, and any rights or

obligations retained or arising as a result of the transfer are simultaneously recognised.

 If the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred financial asset are substantially retained (such as in the case of, among

others: sale and repurchase transactions where the repurchase price is a fixed price or the sale price plus a lender’s return, a

securities lending agreement under which the borrower has the obligation to return the securities or similar), it is not

derecognised and continues to be measured by the same criteria used before the transfer and the following are recognised:

 A financial liability equal to the consideration received, which is subsequently measured at amortised cost, unless it meets

the requirements to be classified under other liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

 The income generated on the transferred (but not derecognised) financial asset and the expenses of the new financial

liability, without offset.

2.4. Derecognition of financial
instruments

2.3. Offsetting of financial assets and
liabilities
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 If, substantially, all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred financial asset are neither transferred nor retained

(such as in the case of: a sale of a financial asset together with a put or call option that is neither deep in the money nor deep

out of the money, or some other type of credit enhancement for part of the transferred asset), the following distinction is made:

 If the transferor does not retain control over the financial asset transferred it is derecognised and any right or obligation

retained or arising from the transfer is recognised.

 If the transferor retains control over the financial asset transferred it continues to recognise the asset for an amount equal

to its exposure to changes in value of the asset, recognising a liability associated with the financial asset transferred. The

net amount of the transferred asset and the associated liability shall be the amortised cost of the rights and obligations

retained, if the asset is measured at amortised cost, or at fair value of the rights and obligations retained, if the transferred

asset is measured at fair value.

Financial liabilities shall equally be derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

The Company applies the requirements on impairment of debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost and at fair value

with changes in other comprehensive income, as well as other exposures that involve credit risk, such as loan commitments given,

financial guarantees given, and other commitments given.

The aim of the regulatory accounting framework requirements as regards impairment is to ensure recognition of the credit losses of

operations, assessed collectively or individually, considering all the reasonable and substantiated information available, including

information of a prospective nature.

Impairment losses on debt instruments in the period are recognised as an expense under the heading "Impairment/(reversal) of

impairment losses on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss or net profit or loss due to a change" in the

statement of profit or loss. The impairment loss of debt instruments at amortised cost are recognised against a corrective account of

provisions that reduces the carrying amount of the asset, whereas those of instruments at fair value with changes in other

comprehensive income are recognised against accumulated other comprehensive income.

The hedges to cover impairment losses in exposures involving credit risk other than debt instruments are recorded as a provision

under the heading "Provisions – Commitments and guarantees given" in the liabilities of the balance sheet.

Additions to and reversals of these hedges are recognised charged under the heading “Provisions or reversal of provisions” in the

statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of recording the hedging for impairment losses of debt instruments, the following definitions must be taken into

account in advance:

 Credit losses: these correspond to the difference between all the contractual cash flows owed to the Company in accordance

with the financial asset's contract and all the cash flows that it is due to receive (i.e. all the insufficiency of cash flows), discounted

at the original effective interest rate or, for financial assets that were purchased with or that originated with credit impairment,

discounted at the effective interest rate adjusted to reflect credit quality, or the interest rate on the date referred to in the

financial statements in the case of a variable rate.

In the case of the loan commitments given, the contractual cash flows that would be owed to the Company in the event the

loan commitment were drawn down are compared to the cash flows that it would expect to receive if the commitment were

drawn down.

The Company estimates the cash flows of the operation during its expected life taking into account all the contractual terms and

conditions of the operation (such as early repayment, extension, redemption and other similar options). In extreme cases when

it is not possible to reliably estimate the expected life of the operation, the Group uses the remaining contractual term of the

operation, including extension options.

Cash flows taken into account include credit improvements that form an integral part of the contractual conditions and other

guarantees provided by third parties, where applicable.

2.5. Impairment in the value of

financial assets
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 Expected credit losses: these are the weighted average of the credit losses, using as weighting the respective risks of default

events. The following distinction will be taken into account:

 Expected credit losses during the life of the operation: these are expected credit losses resulting from all the possible default

events during the expected life of the operation.

 Expected credit losses at twelve months: these are the part of the credit losses expected during the life of the operation

corresponding to the expected credit losses resulting from any default events during the twelve months following the

reference date.

The amount of the hedges to cover impairment loss is calculated according to whether there has been a significant increase in credit

risk since the operation's initial recognition, and whether a default event has occurred:



19

2. Accounting policies and measurement bases
Nuevo Micro Bank | Financial Statements 2019

The Company classifies as impairments the debt instruments, whether due or not, for which after analysing them individually, it

considers the possibility of recovery to be remote and proceeds to derecognise them, without prejudice to any actions that may be

initiated to seek collection until their contractual rights are extinguished definitively by expiry of the statute-of-limitations period,

forgiveness or any other cause.

This category includes i) non-performing transactions due to customer arrears older than four years, or, before the end of the four-

year period when the amount not secured by effective guarantees is fully covered for more than two years, and ii) transactions made

by borrowers declared to be insolvent which have entered or will enter the liquidation phase.

When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are modified or the financial asset is replaced with another, and the modification

or exchange does not cause it to be derecognised from the balance sheet, the Company recalculates the gross carrying amount of

the financial asset, taking into account the modified flows and the effective interest rate applicable before the modification, and

recognises any difference that emerges as a loss or gain due to a change in the profit or loss of the period. The amount of the directly

attributable transaction costs raises the carrying amount of the modified financial asset and it will be amortised during the remainder

of its life, which will require the company to recalculate the effective interest rate.

Regardless of its subsequent classification, in the event that an operation is bought with or originates with credit impairment, its

hedging would be equal to the accumulated amount of the changes in the credit losses after the initial recognition and the interest

income of these assets would be calculated by applying the effective interest rate adjusted to reflect credit quality at the amortised

cost of the instrument.

Under current legislation, these relate to transactions in which the customer has, or will foreseeably have, financial difficulty in

meeting its payment obligations under the contractually agreed terms and, therefore, has amended the agreement, cancelled the

agreement and/or arranged a new transaction.

These transactions may derive from:

 A new transaction (refinancing transaction) granted that fully or partially cancels other transaction (refinanced transactions)

previously granted to the same borrower or other companies forming part of its economic group that become up-to-date on its

payments for previously past-due loans.

 The amendment of the contract terms of an existing transaction (restructured transactions) that changes its repayment schedule

(grace periods, extension of loan maturities, reduction in interest rates, changes in the repayment schedule, extension of all or

part of the capital on maturity, etc.).

 The activation of contract clauses agreed at source that extend the debt repayment terms (flexible grace period).

 The partial cancellation of the debt without the contribution of funds by the customer (forgiveness of capital, interest, fees and

commissions or any other cost relating to the loan extended to the borrower).

The existence of previous defaults is an indication of financial difficulty. Unless otherwise demonstrated, a restructuring or

refinancing transaction is assumed to exist when the amendment to contractual term affects transactions that have been past-due

for more than 30 days at least once in the three months prior to the amendment. However, previous defaults are not a requirement

for a transaction to be classified as refinanced or restructured.

The cancellation of a transaction, changes in the contractual terms or the activation of clauses that delay payments when the

customer is unable to meet future repayment obligations can also be classified as refinancing/restructuring.

In contrast, debt renewals and renegotiations may be granted when the borrower does not have, or is not expected to have, financial

difficulties; i.e. for business reasons, not to facilitate repayments.

For a transaction to be classified as such, the borrower must have the capacity to obtain credit from the market, at the date in

question, for a similar amount and on similar terms to those offered by the Entity. These terms must be adjusted to reflect the terms

offered to borrowers with a similar risk profile.

In general, refinanced or restructured and new operations carried out for refinancing, are classified in the watch-list performing

category. However, according to the particular characteristics of the operation they may be classified as non-performing when they

2.6. Restructuring or refinancing
operations
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meet the general criteria for classifying debt securities as such, and specifically i) operations backed by an unsuitable business plan,

ii) operations that include contractual clauses that delay repayments in the form of interest-only periods longer than 24 months, and

iii) operations that include amounts that have been removed from the balance sheet having been classified as unrecoverable that

exceed the hedging applicable according to the percentage established for operations in the watch-list performing category.

Refinanced and restructured operations and new operations carried out for refinancing are classified as watch-list performing for a

trial period until all the following requirements are met:

 After reviewing the borrower’s asset and financial position it is concluded that they are unlikely to have financial difficulties and

therefore it is highly probable that they will meet their obligations vis-a-vis the entity in both time and form.

 A minimum period of two years has elapsed from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or, if

later, from the date of its reclassification from the non-performing category.

 The borrower has covered all the principal and interest payments from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or

refinancing operation, or, if later, from the date of its reclassification from the non-performing category. Additionally: i) the

borrower has made regular payments of an amount equivalent to the whole amount (principal and interest) falling due at the

date of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or that were derecognised as a result of it; or ii) when it is deemed more

appropriate given the nature of the operations, the borrower complies with other objective criteria that demonstrate their

payment capacity.

If there are contractual clauses that may delay repayments, such as grace periods for the principal, the operation will remain

classified as watch-list performing until all criteria are met.

 The borrower must have no other operations with past due amounts for more than 30 days at the end of the period.

When all the above requirements are met, the operations are no longer classified as refinancing, refinanced or restructured

operations in the financial statements.

During the trial period, further refinancing or restructuring of the refinancing, refinanced or restructured operation, or the existence

of past-due amounts of more than 30 days in these operations will mean that the operations are reclassified as non-performing for

reasons other than arrears before the start of the trial period.

Refinanced and restructured operations and new operations carried out for refinancing remain classified as non-performing until

they meet the general criteria for debt instruments; specifically the following requirements:

 A period of one year has elapsed from the refinancing or restructuring date.

 The borrower has covered all the principal and interest payments (i.e. they are up to date on payments) thereby reducing the

renegotiated principal, from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or, if later, from the date of

its reclassification to the non-performing category.

 The borrower has made regular payments of an amount equivalent to the whole amount (principal and interest) falling due at

the date of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or that were derecognised as a result of it, or, when it is deemed more

appropriate given the nature of the operations, the borrower complies with other objective criteria that demonstrate their

payment capacity.

 The borrower has no other operations with past due amounts for more than 90 days at the date the refinancing or restructured

operation is reclassified to the watch-list performing category.
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The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the euro. Consequently, all non-euro balances and transactions are foreign

currency balances and transactions.

All foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial recognition, by applying the spot exchange rate between the functional

currency and the foreign currency.

At the end of each reporting period, foreign currency monetary items are translated to euros using the exchange rate published by

the European Central Bank. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated to

euros using the exchange rate at the date of acquisition. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are

translated to euros using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

The Company did not carry out any foreign currency operations in 2019 and 2018.

The main policies applied to recognise income and expenses are as follows:

2.7. Foreign currency operations

2.8. Recognition of income and expenses
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In particular, the Company adheres to the following stages:

As for the accounting of the costs related to the contracts, the costs of obtaining a contract are those which the Company incurs to

obtain a contract with a customer and which it would not have incurred if the Company had not entered into said contract.

They are recognised as an asset if they are directly related to a contract that can be specifically identified and the Company expects

to recover them. In this case, they are amortised systematically and consistent with the transfer to the customer of the contractually

related goods or services. However, if the asset's repayment period is equal to or less than one year, these costs are not recognised

as an asset and are recorded as an expense.

These include all forms of consideration given in exchange for services rendered to the Company by employees or for benefits payable

after completion of employment. They can be classified into the following categories:

Short-term employee benefits

These are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the period

in which the employees render the related service. It includes wages, salaries and social security contributions; paid annual leave and

paid sick leave; profit-sharing and bonuses; and non-monetary benefits payable to employees such as medical care, housing, cars

and free or subsidised goods or services.

2.9. Employee benefits
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The cost of the services rendered is recognised under “Administrative expenses – Personnel expenses” in the statement of profit or

loss.

Defined contribution plans

The post-employment obligations with employees are deemed to be defined contribution obligations when the Group makes pre-

determined contributions to a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to make further contributions if the separate

entity cannot pay the employee benefits relating to the service rendered in the current and prior periods. Defined contribution plans

each year are recognised under “Administrative expenses – Personnel expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Post

employment obligations that do not meet the aforementioned conditions are considered defined benefit obligations.

Long-term employee benefits

The present value of defined benefit obligations is recorded under “Provisions – Pensions and other defined benefit obligations” in

the balance sheet.

Benefits for death and disability pensions are recognised as follows:

 Service cost is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and includes the following:

 The cost of services for the introduction of new benefits, and the cost of curtailments, recognised under "Provisions or

reversal of provisions".

 Any gain or loss arising on settlement of a plan is recognised in "Provisions or reversal of provisions".

 The net interest on the net defined benefit liability, understood to be the change during the period in the net defined benefit

liability that arises from the passage of time, is recognised in "Interest expenses", or "Interest income" if it results in income, in

the statement of profit or loss.

 Remeasurements of the net liability for defined benefits are recognised in "Accumulated other comprehensive income" in the

balance sheet. Includes:

 Actuarial gains and losses arising in the period from differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has

actually occurred and from changes in the actuarial assumptions used.

Termination benefits

These benefits are payable as a result of the Company’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal

retirement date, a valid expectation has been raised in the employee or an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in

exchange for those benefits.

A liability and an expense for termination benefits are recognised when there is no realistic possibility of withdrawing the offer to

pay the termination benefits or when the costs for restructuring which involves the payment of termination benefits are recognised.

These amounts are recognised as a provision under "Provisions – Other long-term employee benefits” in the balance sheet until they

are settled.

The expense for income tax is considered to be a current expense and is recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except when it

results from a transaction recognised directly in equity, in which case the corresponding tax effect is recognised in equity.

Income tax expense is calculated as the sum of the current tax for the year resulting from applying the tax rate to the taxable profit

for the year and any changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the year in the statement of profit or loss, less any

allowable tax deductions.

2.10. Corporate income tax
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Temporary differences, tax loss carryforwards pending offset and unused tax deductions are recognised as deferred tax assets and/or

deferred tax liabilities. The amounts are recognised at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the asset is realised or the

liability is settled.

All tax assets are recognised under “Tax assets” in the balance sheet as current, for amounts to be recovered in the next 12 months,

or deferred, for amounts to be recovered in future reporting periods.

Similarly, tax liabilities are recognised in “Tax liabilities" in the balance sheet, also by current and deferred.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be reversed in the foreseeable future and it is estimated

that there is sufficient taxable profit against which they can be used.

Includes the amount of furniture, vehicles, IT equipment and other facilities owned or acquired and the right to use elements under

a lease.

Property, plant and equipment for own use includes assets held by the Company for present or future use for administrative

purposes, or for the production or supply of goods and services that are expected to be used over more than one financial year.

Tangible assets are generally stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any valuation adjustment determined by comparing

the carrying amount of each item to its recoverable amount.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method on the basis of the acquisition cost of the assets less their residual value.

Land is not depreciated since it is considered to have an indefinite life.

The depreciation charge is recognised under “Depreciation and amortisation” in the statement of profit or loss and is calculated

basically using the depreciation rates set out in the table below, which are based on the years of estimated useful life of the various

assets.

USEFUL LIFE OF TANGIBLE ASSETS

(Years)

ESTIMATED USEFUL
LIFE

Furniture and fixtures 6-10

Electronic equipment 4-5

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses tangible assets for any indications that their net carrying amount exceeds

their recoverable amount, understood as fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Any impairment loss determined is recognised with a charge to “Impairment or reversal of impairment on non-financial assets –

Tangible assets” in the statement of profit or loss and a reduction to the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable amount.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation charges for the asset in future periods are adjusted in proportion to its

revised carrying amount and remaining useful life.

Similarly, when there are indications of a recovery in the value of the assets, a reversal of the impairment loss recorded in prior

periods is recognised and the depreciation charge for the asset in future periods is adjusted. In no circumstances may the reversal of

an impairment loss on an asset raise its carrying amount above that which it would have had no impairment losses had been

recognised in prior years.

Likewise, the estimated useful lives of tangible assets are reviewed each year or whenever indications are noted which make it

advisable to do so and, where appropriate, the depreciation charges are adjusted in the statement of profit or loss of future years.

Upkeep and maintenance expenses are recognised under “Administrative expenses – Other administrative expenses” in the

statement of profit or loss.

2.11. Tangible assets
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Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance acquired from third parties or developed internally.

Other intangible assets

This includes the amount of other identifiable intangible assets, chiefly computer software.

Intangible assets have a finite useful life and are amortised over the useful life, applying policies similar to those followed for the
depreciation of tangible assets.

Any impairment losses on assets are recognised with a balancing entry in “Impairment or reversal of impairment on non-financial
assets – Intangible assets” in the statement of profit or loss. The policies for recognising impairment losses on these assets and for
reversing impairment losses recognised in prior years are similar to those for tangible assets.

Software

Computer software developed internally is recognised as an intangible asset when, among other requirements, it is capable of being
used or sold, and it is identifiable and its ability to generate future economic benefits can be demonstrated.

Expenses incurred during the research phase are recognised directly in the statement of profit or loss for the period in which they
are incurred, and cannot subsequently be capitalised.

All software recorded under this heading of the balance sheet has been developed by third parties and is amortised with a service
life of 4 to 15 years.

2.12. Intangible assets
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Operating leases

The way of identifying and accounting for these operations is as follows:

2.13. Leases
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Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic benefits.

Contingent assets are not recognised in financial statements, except where an inflow of economic benefits is practically certain. If

there is a probable inflow of economic benefits, the group discloses the contingent asset.

Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are appropriately reflected in the financial statements.

Provisions cover present obligations at the date of preparation of the financial statements arising from past events which could give

rise to a loss considered likely to occur; and is certain as to its nature but uncertain as to its amount and/or timing.

The financial statements include all the material provisions with respect to which it is considered more likely than not that the

obligation will have to be settled.

Provisions, which are quantified based of the best information available on the consequences of the event giving rise to them and

are re-estimated at the end of each reporting period, are used for specific expenditures for which the provision was originally

recognised. Provisions are fully or partially reversed when the obligations cease to exist or are reduced.

The tax contingency policy is to set aside provisions for the possible tax expense and late-payment interest arising from the income

tax assessments initiated by the tax authorities for the main applicable taxes, irrespective of whether an appeal has been lodged.

Meanwhile, provisions are made for legal suits, in those instances where there is over a 50% probability of losing the case.

The Group recognises any present obligations that are not likely to give rise to an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits

as contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities may develop in a way not initially expected. Therefore, they are assessed continually to

determine whether an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it becomes more probable than

not that an outflow of future economic benefits will be required, a provision is recognised in the balance sheet.

Provisions are recognised under "Provisions" on the liability side of the balance sheet in accordance with the obligations covered.

Contingent liabilities are recognised under memorandum items in the balance sheet.

Non-refundable grants related to specific expenses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as income in the same year in

which the expenses that are being financed are accrued. They are recorded in the income statement inasmuch as the Company

recognises the corresponding provisions for insolvency related to the social and financial microcredits granted. Income earned on

this item is recognised under "Other operating income".

2.14. Contingent assets

2.15. Provisions and contingent liabilities

2.16. Subsidies
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The following terms are used in the presentation of the statement of cash flows:

 Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid investments that are subject

to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 Operating activities: the indirect method is used to present cash flows from operating activities, which are the principal revenue-

producing activities of the Entity and other activities that are not investing or financing activities.

 Investing activities: the acquisition, sale or other disposal of long-term assets, such as equity investments and strategic

investments, and other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents.

 Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity and liabilities that do not form part of

operating activities, such as subordinated financial liabilities.

This statement presents the income and expense recognised as a result of the Company’s activity in the period, with a distinction

between those taken to profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other income and expense recognised directly in equity.

This statement shows all changes in the Company's equity, including those resulting from changes in accounting policies and

corrections of errors. This statement presents a reconciliation between the carrying amount of each component of equity at the

beginning and the end of the period, grouping changes by nature under the following headings:

 Adjustments due to accounting policy changes and error adjustments: includes changes in equity as a result of the retrospective

restatement of financial statement balances on account of changes in accounting policies or for correction of errors.

 Total comprehensive income: represents the aggregate of all items recognised in the statement of changes in equity income

part A) comprehensive income, outlined above.

 Other changes in equity: includes the remaining items recognised in equity, such as capital increases or decreases, distribution

of dividends, treasury share transactions, equity-instrument-based payments, transfers between equity items, and any other

increase or decrease in equity.

2.17. Statement of cash flows

2.19. Statement of changes in equity. Part
B) Statement of total changes in equity

2.18. Statement of changes in equity. Part

A) Statement of other comprehensive

income
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3. Risk management

The following factors had a significant influence on the Company's risk management in 2019 due to their impact during the year and
their long-term implications for the Company:

 Macroeconomic environment – Spain

In 2019, the Spanish economy's pace of growth has upheld the trend that began in 2018 and is subject to a slight ongoing reduction
(although it remains above the average growth in the eurozone). Thus, Spanish growth stood at 2% in 2019, and the GDP is expected
to increase by 1.5% in 2020. This slowdown is due, on the one hand, to the worsening of the aforementioned international
environment, which has impacted the performance of external demand, and on the other hand, lower growth in internal demand,
resulting from the behaviour of consumers who are more cautious about the macroeconomic outlook. Similarly, public finances have
continued to improve: the public deficit stood at 2.5% of the GDP in 2018, down half a percentage point in a year, thus, Spain was no
longer in an excessive deficit situation, and it is expected to be reduced by a further 2 percentages points this year due to cyclical
effects. However, public debt remains at high levels, close to 100% of the GDP. This is the general view, although it is worth noting
that the downside risks surrounding the macroeconomic scenario are not negligible. Most notably, these include risks present at
international level, such as the trade disputes between the US and China, and the UK's EU withdrawal process. Domestically, after a
year dominated by elections, the new coalition government is a stabilising factor.

 Regulatory changes

The regulatory outline on which the business model of CaixaBank Group – to which the Company belongs – lies is crucial to its
development, be it in terms of methodological or management processes. Thus, regulatory analysis represents a relevant point on
the Group's agenda.

The main developments and enquiries open from the field of risks affected during 2019 are shown below:

 Approval and publication in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJ) of the “Proposal of CRDV Package”: once the trilogue
was completed during first few months of the year, the review started in November 2016 by the European Commission of the
“banking package” that covers the texts CRD V, CRR II, BRRD II and SRMR II was approved on 16 April in the plenary session of
the European Parliament. The review basically transposes the standards agreed by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
(prior to the 2017 agreement on the completion of Basel III, the adaptation of which began to be addressed in the second half
of 2019). The aforementioned legislative package came into force on 27 June 2019, with December 2020 the deadline for the
national transposition of the directives, whereas the majority of the changes included in the CRR II regulation are applicable
from June 2021 (December 2020 in the case of SRMR II).

 Response, on 5 August and 4 December, from the EBA to the Call of Advice of the European Commission, on the assessment of
the implementation of the completion of Basel III reforms of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. Both reports establish
policy recommendations: in the areas of credit risk, operational risk and output floor in the former, and the Fundamental Review
of the Trading Book (FRTB), the credit valuation adjustment (CVA) framework and an assessment of the macroeconomic impact,
in the latter. This notably includes the EBA's negative stance on maintaining European specificities as the SME Supporting Factor
in credit risk, and exclusions of the CVA scope in the area of counterparty risk; in favour of the unchanged implementation to
the Basel Committee proposal.

On 10 October, the European Commission began the consultation period, the result of which, together with the response to the
EBA's Call of advice, will be taken into account in the European standard transposition process.

 In the context of the European Council's Action Plan to reduce non-performing loans, on 19 June the EBA began the consultation
process of the draft of the Guidelines on loan origination and monitoring, regarding the granting, monitoring and internal
governance of loans, focusing on aspects such as transparency and assessment of the borrower's credit capacity. The core goal
of the standard, which is expected to come into force in June 2020, is to ensure that institutions have robust and prudent
standards for risk-taking, and the managing and monitoring thereof, so that the origination of new loans is of the highest credit
quality, seeking to minimise the generation of non-performing loans in the future, while respecting the consumers' rights.
CaixaBank Group, in the interest of maintaining the best standards of the market and consumer protection, has played a special
role in analysing the implications of the guidelines subject to consultation, prior to the final provision of the standard.

3.1. Risk factors and environment
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 Similarly, on 22 August, the European Central Bank published a statement in which it updated its supervisory forecast regarding
prudential provisions due to the new non-performing exposures (NPEs). The supervisor has adapted its Pillar 2 expectations for
certain exposures converted into NPEs starting from 1 April 2018, aligning them on the calendar with the Pillar 1 requirement
recently added to the CRR as regards minimum coverage for these NPEs (known as the prudential backstop).

As the parent of the Group to which the Company belongs, CaixaBank plays an active role both internally and externally in
debating on the standard, conducting successive exercises on impact assessment and contrasting reasonableness in accordance
with the implications and requirements of other regulatory deployments.

 Strategic events

Strategic events are the most relevant adverse events that may threaten CaixaBank Group in the medium term. It solely
considers events to which the Company is exposed due to causes outside its strategy, although the severity of the impact of
these events can be mitigated through management.

In order to be able to anticipate and manage their effects, in this sense, the following most relevant strategic events identified
in this financial year are listed below:

 Uncertainties regarding the geopolitical and macroeconomic environment

The economic outlook foretell a mild slowdown in economic growth in the coming years in Spain, but the loss of confidence
or the rise or worsening of geopolitical events could cause a sharper slowdown than expected. This scenario would, among
other effects, lead to a decrease in credit demand and deteriorated credit quality.

 Ongoing environment of low interest rates

Although market expectations indicate a very gradual recovery of interest rates in the coming years, the prolonging of the
current ultra-low employment rate environment longer than expected cannot be ruled out, nor can further rate cuts.

 Cybersecurity

The volume of cybercrime events and their severity has increased in 2019. In parallel, regulators and supervisors have
increased priorities of this area in their agendas.

 Risks related to climate change

Conceptually, the risks associated with climate change are classified as either physical risks or transition risks. The first arise
as a result of climate or geological events and changes in the balance of ecosystems and may be gradual or abrupt. They
can cause physical damage to assets (infrastructure. properties), disruption to production or supply chains and/or may
affect the productivity of economic activities (agriculture, energy production). Transition risks, meanwhile, are associated
with the fight against climate change and the transition to a low-carbon economy. They include factors such as changes in
regulations and standards, the development of alternative energy-efficient technologies, changes in market tastes or
reputational issues affecting the sectors that cause the greatest damage.

 Pressure from the legal, regulatory or supervisory environment

Risk of increasing pressure from the legal, regulatory, or supervisory environment is one of those identified in the risk self-
assessment exercise which can have a higher short-term impact. Specifically, there is a need to uphold ongoing monitoring
of new legislative proposals and the amendment of the regulations in force, given the high level of activity of legislators
and regulators in the financial sector; greater concern is placed on minimising errors when advising on the different legal
or regulatory interpretation matters; reducing the lawsuit management shortcomings and improving the management of
the requirements of regulators/supervisors and of the penalty proceedings that may be brought.

Greater concern is also placed on personal data privacy and protection and in compliance with regulations and standards
related to activities carried out by employees or agents that may harm the interests and rights of our customers.
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The main features of the Company's risk management and control framework are described below to provide a comprehensive
overview thereof:

3.2.1. Governance and organisation

The Board of Directors of Nuevo Micro Bank is responsible for establishing and monitoring the internal control framework and

ensuring that it functions adequately and effectively, approving the Company's relevant policies in this area, considering CaixaBank

Group's corporate policies along these lines, as well as the core internal control mechanisms and procedures that must be duly

propagated among the entire workforce. It is also tasked with implementing a risk governance framework in line with the Company's

risk propensity level. It includes the dissemination of a solid risk culture and the setting of well-defined responsibilities for the risk

taking, management and control functions.

3.2.2. Risk taxonomy

The risks incurred as a result of the Company's own activity are classified as follows:

 Business model risk: solvency and own funds risk, business profitability risk and liquidity and funding risk.

 Risks associated with financial activity: credit risk and structural rate risk

 Operational risk, which, in turn, includes, conduct risk, legal/regulatory and technological risk, and reputational risk, among
others.

On 15 March 2018, the Board of Directors of MicroBank set the goal of "maximising the social impact of our financial activity, through

a sound portfolio of credit assets". This goal is reflected in the analysis – within a "risk monitoring framework" – of the protection

against credit losses and of the business (weight of the different portfolios) and franchise composition.

3.2.3. Internal control framework

CaixaBank Group to which the Company belongs has an Internal Control Framework in line with: i) the EBA Directives on Internal
Governance of 21 March 2018, implementing internal governance requirements established in Directive 2013/36/EU of the European
Parliament, and ii) with other regulatory guidelines on control functions applicable to financial institutions and to the
recommendations of the CNMV; providing a reasonable degree of assurance that the Group will achieve its objectives.

Furthermore, CaixaBank has established – in the interest of the Group – general principles and criteria for action in virtually all its
areas of activity, through the approval of the corresponding corporate policies, to which the Company has adhered and, in the are of
its autonomy and competences, adapted or developed considering the characteristics of its activity.

The guidelines for CaixaBank Group's Internal Control Framework are set out in the Corporate Internal Control Policy – to which the
Company adhered in September 2019 – and are in line with regulatory guidance and best practices in the sector structured around
the "three lines of defence" model:

First line of defence

It comprises the business lines (risk-taking areas) and supporting functions that give rise to exposure to risks in the performance of
operations. They assume risks and are responsible for their ongoing management. They are responsible for developing and
maintaining effective controls over their businesses, and for identifying, managing and measuring, controlling, mitigating and
reporting the main risks that arise in their activity. Among other activities, their tasks include the identification, assessment and
notification of exposures, considering the authorised risk limits and policies, procedures and controls.

Second line of defence

The functions part of the second line of defence act independently of the business units and comprise:

 The establishment of risk management and control policies in coordination with the first line of defence, assessing their
subsequent compliance.

 The identification, measurement and monitoring of the risks (including emerging risks), contributing to the definition and
implementation of risk indicators.

3.2. Risk governance, management and
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 Periodically monitoring the effectiveness of indicators of both the first and second lines of defence, in relation to the established
risk profiles.

 Monitoring control weaknesses that are identified, as well as establishing and implementing action plans.

The activities of the second line of defence, as well as i) the identified weaknesses, ii) the monitoring of action plans and iii) the
opinion on the adequacy of the control environment; they are regularly reported to the bodies responsible for the control
environment, following the established hierarchy, as well as to supervisory bodies.

The second line of defence is spread between the Risk Management Function (RMF) and Compliance, according to the nature of the
risk.

Third line of defence

Internal Audit is the third line of defence of CaixaBank Group, overseeing the activities of the first and second lines of defence so as
to provide reasonable certainty to senior management and the governing bodies with regard to:

 The effectiveness and efficiency of internal control systems in offsetting the risks associated with the Group's activities.

 Compliance with prevailing legislation, especially the requirements of supervisors.

 Compliance with internal policies and regulations, and alignment with best practices and uses in the sector, for adequate internal
governance of the Group.

Its main supervisory functions include:

 The adequacy, effectiveness and implementation of policies, regulations and procedures.

 The effectiveness of controls.

 Adequate measurement and monitoring of first line of defence and second line of defence indicators.

 The existence and correct implementation of action plans to remedy weaknesses of controls.

 The validation, monitoring and assessment of the control environment by the second line of defence.

3.3.1 General description

Credit risk corresponds to the loss of value of the assets of the Company through a customer or a counterparty, due to the impairment
of the capacity of this customer or counterparty to meet their commitments to the Company. This is the most material risk.

The maximum credit risk exposure of the financial instruments on the asset side of the balance sheet, including counterparty risk,
are set out below:

3.3. Credit risk
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MAXIMUM EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE
TO CREDIT RISK HEDGE

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE
TO CREDIT RISK HEDGE

Financial assets at fair value with changes in other
comprehensive income (Note 9) 3,709 3,775

Equity instruments 3,709 3,775

Financial assets at amortised cost (Note 10) 1,587,896 (102,084) 1,568,588 (91,195)

Debt securities 0 0 4,699

Loans and advances 1,587,896 (102,084) 1,563,889 (91,195)

Customers 1,587,896 (102,084) 1,563,889 (91,195)

TOTAL ACTIVE EXPOSURE 1,591,605 (102,084) 1,572,363 (91,195)

TOTAL GUARANTEES GIVEN AND COMMITMENTS 518 562 0

TOTAL 1,592,123 (102,084) 1,572,925 (91,195)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the gross carrying amount, except in the case of derivatives, which is the exposure value
according to the mark-to-market method, which is calculated as the sum of:

 Current exposure: the highest value between zero and the market value of an operation or of a portfolio of operations in a set
of operations that can be offset with a counterparty that would be lost in the event of non-payment of the counterparty,
assuming that none of the value of the operations will be recovered in the event of insolvency or settlement beyond the
collateral received.

 Potential risk: variation of the credit exposure as a consequence of the future changes of the valuations of operations that can
be offset with a counterparty during the residual term until maturity.

As regards ordinary activity, the Company's credit activity aims to foster productive activity, job creation, and personal and family
development through granting microcredits and other financial products.

In this regard, the range of products is noteworthy for making the following lines of microcredits available to the market:

 Business Microcredits – Institution Agreements: the Business Microcredits – Institution Agreements programme addresses
funding applications channelled by the Company's Collaborating Entities that provide their services to the requesting groups,
and may also collaborate in drawing up company plans on projects and subsequently protecting their implementation and
development. These loans are small, up to EUR 25,000, and intended for financing self-employment projects driven by people
in a situation of financial exclusion with no capacity to provide any type of collateral.

This section includes microcredits for innovation, intended for supporting early-stage technological entrepreneurship; the
maximum amount is EUR 50,000 and, as with the other products, no collateral is requested for the loan to be granted.

 Business Microcredits are intended for entrepreneurs and micro-enterprises (individuals or legal entities). Their purpose is to
provide funding for business projects that generate wealth creation and, especially, job creation or job maintenance and
stability, consequently contributing to social cohesion. The maximum amount of these microcredits reaches EUR 25,000, and
no type of collateral can be accepted for them. The current funding facilities are intended for supporting self-employment and
projects to create, consolidate or expand both new and existing small businesses. It includes business eco-microcredits,
specifically intended to finance projects committed to the environment and the responsible use of natural resources.

EIB mediation microcredits, which benefit from financial advantages arising from the agreement with the European
Investment Bank, focused on applying a lower interest rate, as well as ICO microcredits, granted under the conditions of the
financing facilities established by the Spanish Official Credit Institute.

 Family Microcredits: the purpose of this line of products is to meet the needs of families, enabling them to overcome
temporary difficulties and facilitating their personal development. These loans are granted without any collateral, up to EUR
25,000 for customer profiles with net annual income that does not exceed EUR 17,200 per holder (maximum of two).

Personal eco-microcredits are also part of this loan facility, and finance purchases by families of environmentally friendly
goods.
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Trust microcredits are a type of loan that facilitates the coverage of basic family needs and encourages the creation of small-
scale self-employment projects among highly vulnerable people in society.

Erasmus + Master loans: a loan facility for students whose objective is to reach the second university cycle for students
residing in the European Union who wish to specialise in their respective degrees, through a postgraduate master's degree
(Erasmus + programme, European Union).

 EaSI Social Enterprise Loans: this new loan facility, covered by the EaSI Agreement (see "NPL Management" section), is
intended for entities and companies whose core goal is to generate a measurable positive social impact, through sustainable
economic and environmental business activity; among other recipients, they include: cooperatives, associations and
foundations, labour companies, insertion companies, special employment centres, mutual societies and fishermen's guilds.
The maximum amount of these loans is EUR 500,000 and no collateral is requested.

Loans totalling EUR 724,832 thousand were granted in 2019 (EUR 773,896 thousand in 2018), of which EUR 28,667 thousand were

Business Microcredits – Institution Agreements (EUR 29,653 thousand in 2018), EUR 265,525 thousand in Microcredits for

entrepreneurs (EUR 209,876 thousand in 2018), EUR 413,528 thousand in Family Microcredits (EUR 532,828 thousand in 2018),

EUR 16,478 thousand in the EaSI Social Enterprise facility (EUR 1,092 thousand in 2018) and EUR 635 thousand in Trust Microcredits

(EUR 447 thousand in 2018).

3.3.2 Credit risk cycle

To make its entire range of products available to the customer, with the highest possible quality of service and proximity, the
Company conducts its commercial activity through CaixaBank's branch network. To do this, the Company has signed an Agency and
Service Provision agreement with CaixaBank, covering all the legal and procedural aspects governing this relationship.

Those in charge of risk management, monitoring and control are autonomous with respect to risk management areas, thus bolstering
their independence. Furthermore, as part of the credit risk governance structure, the following committees exist:

 CaixaBank Group level. Risk Policy Committee: approves the general principles, guidelines or policies linked to credit risk, as well
as those linked to mitigating this risk in situations of impairment and management of non-performing assets.

 MicroBank. (1) Credit Committee: analyses and, where applicable, approves credit operations within its level of powers. (2)
Refinancing Committee: analyses and, where applicable, approves operations within its level of powers.

3.3.2.1 Admission and approval

There are some differences in the operational procedures for granting and formalising microcredits according to their type:

 Business Microcredits – Institution Agreements, Innovation and Trust: the Collaborating Institutions are initially involved when
processing of these microcredit requests. They provide advisory services to the applicant to prepare their business plan, assess
the viability of the project, and prepare the financing proposal. Subsequently, in all cases, the applicant is referred to a CaixaBank
branch that analyses the proposed project, assesses its viability and transfers the proposal to MicroBank, whose Risk Area is
tasked with resolving the operation.

 Business Microcredits: granted directly from CaixaBank branches to entrepreneurs and micro-enterprises spontaneously
attending these premises or through collaborating social entities, provided that their beneficiary profile matches the one
established for this type of operation. Branches operate with the procedures for acceptance, analysis and approval established
for this type of operation, and must attach a company plan or explanatory document for the project enabling us to assess both
the target and viability of the proposed operation, in all cases.

 Family Microcredits: they are granted directly by CaixaBank branches and are processed using the same procedures for analysis,
approval and formalisation as CaixaBank loans to individuals.

Within this area in Erasmus + Master Microcredits, branches act with the procedures for accepting and validating the
requirements demanded of applicants, depending on the bases of the community training programme, and the proposal is
subsequently transferred together with all the information to the Company, Where the Risk Area is tasked with analysing and
resolving this request, where applicable.
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 EaSI Social Enterprise Loans: processed directly from CaixaBank branches, provided that their beneficiary profile matches the
one established for this type of operation. The approval of the operation corresponds to the respective higher risk centres
established for this type of operation or the Company's Risk Area, according to its conditions.

3.3.2.2 Credit risk monitoring and measurement

Credit risk is monitored and measured based on the model established by CaixaBank for the Group. This monitoring model also
includes the classification of credit risk, as well as the classification and accounting hedges of the credit portfolio.

In this regard, the main features of the model are set out below. The citations in this section referring to the Entity should be deemed
to refer to CaixaBank and, through the latter, apply to the Company.

CaixaBank has a monitoring and measurement system that guarantees the coverage of any borrower and/or operation through
methodological procedures adapted to the nature of each holder and risk. The goal is to reach a conclusion on the quality of the risk
assumed with the borrower ("Monitoring Rating") and any actions that need to be taken according to its result, including the
estimation of impairment. The targets of risk monitoring are the accredited holders of the debt instruments and off-balance-sheet
exposures that bear credit risk, and the profit or loss is a reference for future granting.

Monitoring is based on the Credit Risk Monitoring Policy, according to the type and specific nature of the exposure, which is
segregated into differentiated areas, in accordance with the various credit risk measurement methods.

The monitoring rating is an assessment of the situation of each customer and their risks. The different ratings are, from best to worse:
imperceptible, low, medium, medium-high and non-performing; and they can be generated manually (in the case of the scope of
borrowers under individualised monitoring) or automatically (for the rest).

Pursuant to the nature of the Company's operations, borrowers are subject to collective monitoring. The ratings in this case are
obtained by combining a statistical model, referred to as the Early Alert Model (EAM), the Probability of Default (PD) calibrated with
a forward-looking view (consistent with the PD used to calculate the credit risk hedges) and other relevant alerts. Both the EAM and
the PD are updated at least on a monthly basis, and daily in the case of the alerts.

Similarly, the EAM and PD models are subject to the CaixaBank Group's Credit Risk Model Corporate Policy and they must fulfil the
requirements included therein.

1. Quantification and assessment of credit risk:

Credit risk quantifies losses that might derive from failure by borrowers to comply with their financial obligations, based on two
concepts:

 Expected Loss (EL).The average or mathematical expectation of potential losses foreseen, calculated by multiplying three
factors: probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), and loss given default (LGD).

 Unexpected Loss. Potential unforeseen loss caused by a possible variability in losses with respect to the estimated expected
loss. This can occur due to sudden changes in cycles, changes in risk factors, and the dependence between the credit risk for the
various debtors. Unexpected losses have a low probability and large amount, and should be absorbed by the Company's own
funds. The calculation of unexpected loss is also mainly based on the operation's PD, EAD and LGD.

Credit risk parameters are estimated based on the historical default experience. To do so, the Group has a set of tools and techniques
for the specific needs of each type of risk, which are described below based on how they affect the three factors for calculating the
expected loss:

 EAD: the exposure provides an estimate of the outstanding debt in the event of default by the customer. This measurement is
significant for financial instruments with a repayment structure that varies according to customer drawdowns (in general, any
revolving credit product).

This estimate is obtained based on the internal default experience, relating the drawdown levels upon default with drawdown
levels over the 12 preceding months. Several variables are considered to build the model, such as product type, term to maturity
and customer characteristics.

 PD: the Entity uses management tools covering virtually all of its lending business to help predict the probability of default
associated with each borrower.



36

3. Risk management
Nuevo Micro Bank | Financial Statements 2019

These tools, implemented in the CaixaBank branch network and the risk monitoring and granting channels, were developed on
the basis of NPL experience and include the measurements required to fine-tune the results both to the business cycle, with a
view to securing relatively stable measures in the long term, and to recent experience and future projections. The models can
be classified according to their orientation toward the product or customer:

Product-oriented tools are used mainly within the scope of authorisation of new operations (approval scorings) and take account
of the debtor’s characteristics, information derived from the customer relationship, internal and external alerts, as well as the
specific characteristics of the operation to determine its probability of default.

Customer-oriented tools assess the debtor’s probability of default. They comprise behavioural scoring models for monitoring
risk of individuals and ratings of companies. Rating tools for businesses are specific according to the customer segment. The
rating process for micro-enterprises and SMEs, in particular, is based on a modular algorithm, in which four different areas of
data are rated: the financial statements, the information drawn from dealings with customers, internal and external alerts and
certain qualitative factors

The customers are scored and rated on a monthly basis in order to keep the credit rating up-to-date, except for the rating of
large corporates, which is updated at least annually, and whenever significant events occur that can alter the borrower's credit
quality. For legal entities, the financial statements and qualitative information is updated periodically to achieve the maximum
level of coverage of the internal rating.

 LGD: loss given default (LGD) is the percentage of debt that cannot be recovered in the event of borrower default.

The historic loss given default is calculated using internal information, taking into account the cash flows associated with
contracts from the moment of default. The models allow obtaining different loss given defaults based on the guarantee, the
loan to value relationship, the product type, the borrower's credit quality and, for uses in which it is required by regulation, the
recessional conditions of the economic cycle. This calculation also makes an estimate of the indirect expenses associated with
the recovery process.

In addition to regulatory use to determine the minimum own funds of the Group and the Company, and the calculation of hedges,
the credit risk parameters (PD, LGD and EAD) are used in a number of management tools, e.g. the Risk-Adjusted Return (RAR)
calculation tool, pricing tools, customer pre-qualification tools, monitoring tools and alert systems.

2. Determining the accounting classification and accounting treatment of refinancing or restructuring operations:

The accounting classification of operations with credit risk among the different Stages of IFRS 9 will be defined according to whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since the operation's initial recognition, and/or whether a default event has
occurred.

It will be considered that there has been SICR and, therefore, the operations will be classified as Stage 2, when there are weaknesses
that may involve incurring significantly higher losses than expected at the time the credit is granted. Following on from this, to identify
weaknesses in operations and borrowers, the Entity has the aforementioned monitoring and rating processes.

A weakness is considered a significant deterioration in the monitoring rating or a relative increase in relevant PD with respect to the
origin of the operation.

Additionally, the following operations will be classified as Stage 2: i) operations included in sustainability agreements that have not
completed the trial period; ii) refinancing, refinanced or restructured operations that should not be reclassified as non-performing
and that are still in the trial period; iii) operations made by insolvent borrowers that should not be classified as Stage 3 or write-offs;
iv) operations with amounts past due of over 30 days, unless proven otherwise.

Unless they are identified as refinancing, refinanced or restructured operations, those that no longer meet the conditions to qualify
for Stage 2 will be classified as Stage 1.

With respect to refinancing, refinanced or restructured operations that classify as Stage 2 due to failing to proceed to classify them
as Stage 3 on the date of refinancing or restructuring or due to having been reclassified from the Stage 3 category, they will remain
identified as Stage 2 for a probationary period until they meet all the following requirements with a general nature: i) it is concluded
that they are unlikely to have financial difficulties and therefore it is highly probable that they will meet their obligations vis-a-vis the
entity in both time and form; ii) a minimum period of two years has elapsed from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or
refinancing operation, or, if later, from the date of its reclassification from Stage 3; iii) one of the borrowers must have no other
operations with past due amounts for more than 30 days at the end of the trial period; and iv) the borrower has covered all the
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principal and interest payments from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or, if later, from the
date of its reclassification from stage 3.

Furthermore, the borrower must have made regular payments of an amount equivalent to the whole amount (principal and interest)
falling due at the date of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or that were derecognised as a result of it, or when it is deemed
more appropriate given the nature of the operations that the borrower complies with other objective criteria that demonstrate their
payment capacity. This implies that there are no contractual clauses that may delay repayments, such as grace periods for the
principal.

It will be considered that there has been a default and, therefore, an operation will be classified at Stage 3 when – regardless of the
holder and the guarantee – there is an amount overdue (capital, interests or contractually agreed costs) by more than 90 days, as
well as the operations of all other holders when operations with past due amounts of over 90 days account for more than 20% of the
amounts pending collection.

Operations classified in Stage 3 due to the customer being non-performing will be reclassified to Stage 1 or Stage 2 when, as a result
of charging part of the overdue amounts, the reasons that caused their classification as Stage 3 disappear and there remain no
reasonable doubts regarding their full repayment by the holder for other reasons.

Additionally, the following operations will be classified as Stage 3: i) operations with legally demanded balances; ii) operations in
which the collateral execution process has been initiated; iii) operations made by insolvent borrowers that should not be classified
as write-offs; iv) refinancing, refinanced or restructured operations classifiable as non-performing, including those which – having
been classified as non-performing before the trial period – are refinanced or restructured or have amounts that are more than 30
days past-due; and v) operations with holders who, after an individualised review, pose reasonable doubts regarding full repayment
(principal and interest) in the contractually agreed terms.

Unless they are identified as refinancing, refinanced or restructured operations, those classified as Stage 3 for reasons other than the
customer being non-performing can be reclassified to Stage 1 or Stage 2 if, as a result of an individualised study, the reasonable
doubts regarding their full repayment by the holder in the contractually agreed terms disappear and there are no amounts overdue
by more than ninety days on the date of reclassification to Stage 1 or Stage 2.

In the case of refinanced, restructured or refinancing operations, in order to consider the credit quality of the operation to have
improved and, therefore, to proceed to reclassify it to Stage 2, all the following criteria must be verified in general: i) a period of one
year has elapsed from the refinancing or restructuring date; ii) the borrower has covered all the principal and interest payments (i.e.
the operation has no overdue amounts) thereby reducing the renegotiated principal, from the date of authorisation of the
restructuring or refinancing operation, or, if later, from the date of its reclassification to the non-performing category; iii)
furthermore, regular payments must have been made of an amount equivalent to the whole amount (principal and interest) falling
due at the date of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or that were derecognised as a result of it, or when it is deemed more
appropriate given the nature of the operations that the borrower complies with other objective criteria that demonstrate their
payment capacity; and iv) one of the borrowers must have no other operations with past due amounts for more than 90 days.

The exposures of borrowers declared subject to bankruptcy proceedings without an application for liquidation shall be reclassified
to Stage 2 if the borrower has paid at least 25% of the credit from the entity that is affected by the bankruptcy proceedings (once the
agreed debt reduction, if any, has been deducted), or if two years have elapsed since the order approving the creditors’ agreement
was registered with the Mercantile Register, provided that this agreement is being faithfully performed and the equity and financial
situation of the corporation dispels any doubts regarding full repayment of its debts, all unless interest has been agreed that is
noticeably lower than the market rate.

As regards the accounting classification of borrowers, as previously stated, when the borrower's monitoring rating has significantly
deteriorated with respect to the start of the operation or when there is a relative increase of relevant PD also with respect to the
start of the operation, the Group proceeds to classify the contract at accounting Stage 2. For these purposes, the classification is
revised on a monthly basis, using the most recent monitoring classification and PD classification, which are updated at least monthly.
All other classification criteria in Stage 2 or Stage 3 are also revised monthly.

3. Determining the accounting hedge:

The aim of the Circular 4/2017 requirements as regards impairment is to ensure recognition of the expected credit losses of
operations, assessed collectively or individually, considering all the reasonable and substantiated information available, including
forward-looking information.
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The calculated hedge or provision is defined as the difference between the gross carrying amount of the operation and the estimated
value of future expected cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate of the operation, considering the effective
guarantees received.

The Entity estimates the expected credit losses of an operation so that these losses reflect: a) a weighted and non-biased amount,
determined through the assessment of a series of possible results; b) the time value of money, and c) the reasonable and substantial
information that is available at the reference date, at no disproportionate cost or effort, on past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

According to the applicable regulations, hedging for individually non-material borrowers is estimated collectively using internal
methodologies, subject to the Credit Risk Model Corporate Policy in force, based on past experience of portfolio defaults and
recoveries, and factoring in the updated and adjusted value of the effective guarantees. Additionally, future economic condition
predictions will be considered under various scenarios.

To determine hedging for credit losses of portfolios under collective analysis, the Group uses models to estimate the PD; probability
of correcting defaulting cycles (specifically its complementary measurement, PNC); loss given loss (LGL) in the event of no correction;
adjustments to include lifetime or forward-looking effects, according to the agreement's accounting classification.

The models used are re-estimated or re-trained every six months, and they are executed monthly in order to properly reflect the
current economic environment at any given time. This makes it possible to reduce the differences between estimated loss and recent
observations. The models will include an unbiased view of the potential forward-looking evolution to determine the expected loss,
taking into account further relevant macroeconomic factors: i) GDP growth, ii) the unemployment rate, iii) 12-month Euribor and iv)
evolution of property prices. Following on from this, the Entity generates a basic scenario, as well as a range of potential scenarios
that make it possible to adjust, based on the probability, the estimated expected loss.

The calculation process is structured in two steps:

 Setting the basis for the calculation of allowances, in two steps:

 Calculation of the exposure amount, which is the sum of the gross carrying amount at the time of calculation plus off-
balance-sheet amounts (available or exposure) expected to be disbursed when the borrower fulfils the conditions to be
considered non-performing.

 Calculation of the recoverable value of the effective guarantees linked to the exposure.

 Establishing the coverage to be applied on this basis for the calculation of allowances: this calculation factors in the probability
of a borrower defaulting on the operation obligations, the probability of the situation being remedied or resolved and the losses
that would occur if this did not happen. For insignificant portfolios where it is considered that the internal model approach is
not suitable due to the processes involved or a lack of past experience, the Entity may use the default coverage rates established
in the current national regulations.

Both operations classified as not bearing appreciable risk and those that, due to their type of collateral, are classified as not bearing
appreciable risk, could have 0% coverage. This percentage will only be applied to the covered risk.

The hedges estimated individually or collectively must be coherent in terms of the way in which the different categories into which
the operations can be classified are processed. Thus, the hedging level for an operation must be higher than the hedging level that
would correspond to it, if it were classified in another category of a lower credit risk.

The necessary improvements detected in the backtesting and benchmarking exercises are also inserted in the review cycles. Similarly,
the models developed are documented so they can be replicated by a third party. The documentation contains key definitions,
information regarding the process of acquiring samples and data processing, methodological principles and results obtained, as well
as the comparison of said results with those of previous years.

3.3.2.3 NPL management

The Risk Area reviews both the acceptance of the risk and its monitoring. This function is carried out through a process that provides
the monitoring managers with an overview of each customer's situation and, in addition, aggregated information at the management
unit level.

In particular, specialised personnel collaborate in the case of Business Microcredits – Institution Agreements, in addition to the usual
procedures used by CaixaBank. These operations are processed based on an individual case-by-case analysis.
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In order to obtain greater efficiency in recovery procedures, the Company has signed a contract with the Group company, CaixaBank
Operational Services, S.A., providing recovery management services for delinquent customers.

Similarly, MicroBank and the European Investment Fund (EIF) have signed an agreement as a part of the Competitiveness and
Innovation Framework Programme (CIP), that covers 75% of write-offs on the portfolio of microcredits for entrepreneurs (and social
companies) eligible for the programmes, granted between 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2009 up to 7.5% of the portfolio covered
by this agreement, with a maximum receivable limited of EUR 9,825 thousand.

In 2009, MicroBank signed a renewal of the agreement in force with the EIF up to 31 December 2009. The renewed agreement was
extended for 2 years, thus covering microcredits for entrepreneurs who meet the admission criteria established by the CIP
programme granted from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2011, up to an amount equal to 7.5% of the portfolio covered by this
agreement, with the maximum receivable amount increased to EUR 18,000 thousand.

In 2011, MicroBank signed a new agreement with the EIF, which remained in force until 30 November 2013. The agreement covers
microcredits for entrepreneurs (and social companies) who meet the admission criteria established by the CIP programme granted
from 1 December 2011 to 30 November 2013, up to 7.5% of the portfolio covered by this agreement, with a maximum receivable
amount of EUR 15,000 thousand. All the agreements signed by MicroBank de "la Caixa" were subrogated in favour of the Company.

A new renewal of the agreement in force until 31 December 2014 was signed with the EIF in 2013, in which the covered portfolio
was increased up to EUR 350,000 thousand, with the maximum amount receivable for offsetting written-off risks increasing to EUR
26,250 thousand.

In 2014, MicroBank and the EIF signed the new agreement corresponding to the programme for the Competitiveness of Small and
Medium-Sized Enterprises (COSME), covering 50% of losses due to write-offs for production of up to EUR 650,000 thousand, in the
term between 4 December 2014 and 4 December 2017, and with a write-off limit of 11% of the aforementioned production.

In 2015, MicroBank and the EIF signed a credit coverage agreement for students on the European Community Erasmus programme,
covering 90% of losses due to write-offs for production of up to EUR 30,000 thousand, in the term between 15 June 2015 and 15 June
2018, and with a write-off limit of 18% of the aforementioned production. In 2018, based on the observed production, an agreement
was reached to reduce the amount of production to EUR 10,000 thousand, extending the term of the agreement until 14 June 2020.

In 2017, MicroBank and the EIF signed the new agreement corresponding to the programme for the Competitiveness of Small and
Medium-Sized Enterprises (COSME 2), covering 50% of losses due to write-offs for production of up to EUR 600,000 thousand, in the
term between 4 December 2017 and 4 December 2019, and with a write-off limit of 11.5% of the aforementioned production. This
agreement was renewed in 2019, extending the production amount to EUR 1,200,000 thousand (double the initial amount) and
extending the term until 3 December 2021.

In 2018, MicroBank and the EIF signed a credit coverage agreement under the EaSI Programme (Employment and Social Innovation),
which guarantees a maximum production of EUR 50,000 thousand in loans to entities and companies whose main goal is to generate
a positive social impact, in a period between 23 July 2018 and 23 January 2021. The agreement covers 80% of losses due to write-
offs, with a write-off limit of 15% of the amount of loans granted.

3.3.2.4 Refinancing policies

All the actions at the Company regarding risk acceptance, monitoring and management are conducted with the knowledge and
overview of the various specialised areas of CaixaBank, using the IT systems and procedures of the Group, which has a detailed
customer debt refinancing policy with the same general principles as published by the EBA for this type of operation.

The risk management procedures and policies applied in CaixaBank Group allow for detailed monitoring of credit operations. In this
regard, any operation uncovered whose terms may need to be changed due to evidence of impairment of the borrower’s solvency is
marked appropriately so the associated provision for impairment at the date of the change is made. Therefore, as these operations
are correctly classified and measured according to best judgement, no additional provisions emerge in relation to the impairment of
refinanced loans.

As regards the Company specifically, refinancing will involve cancelling the original operation simultaneously at the time it is arranged.
The maximum amounts to be refinanced will be adjusted according to the production segment: loans under EIF coverage where the
sum of the capital plus ordinary interest is refinanced, and for other products the amount to be refinanced is based on each
customer's specific circumstances. Furthermore, in order to complete the refinancing, the late-payment interest amount and any
additional expenses must be provided by the borrower.
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Refinancing operations

The breakdown of refinancing by economic sector is as follows:

REFINANCING OPERATIONS 31-12-2019
(Thousands of euros)

WITHOUT COLLATERAL WITH COLLATERAL

IMPAIRMENT
DUE TO

CREDIT RISK
(*)

No. OF
OPERATION

S

GROSS
CARRYING
AMOUNT

No. OF
OPERATION

S

GROSS
CARRYING
AMOUNT

MAXIMUM GUARANTEE
AMOUNT

MORTGAGE
COLLATERAL

OTHER
COLLATERAL

Public administrations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (financial business) 1 7 0 0 0 0 (5)

Non-financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 674 4,352 0 0 0 0 (1,381)

Of which: financing for real estate construction
and development (including land) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other households 3,188 12,453 0 0 0 0 (3,848)

TOTAL 3,863 16,812 0 0 0 0 (5,234)

Of which: to Stage 3

Public administrations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (financial business) 1 7 0 0 0 0 (5)

Non-financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 238 1,591 0 0 0 0 (1,080)

Of which: financing for real estate construction
and development (including land) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other households 1,042 4,484 0 0 0 0 (3,216)

STAGE 3 TOTAL 1,281 6,082 0 0 0 0 (4,301)

(*) Corresponds to "Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale".

REFINANCING OPERATIONS 31-12-2018
(Thousands of euros)

WITHOUT COLLATERAL WITH COLLATERAL

IMPAIRMENT
DUE TO

CREDIT RISK
(*)

No. OF
OPERATION

S

GROSS
CARRYING
AMOUNT

No. OF
OPERATION

S

GROSS
CARRYING
AMOUNT

MAXIMUM GUARANTEE
AMOUNT

MORTGAGE
COLLATERAL

OTHER
COLLATERAL

Public administrations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (financial business) 2 21 0 0 0 0 (10)

Non-financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 807 5,658 0 0 0 0 (1,674)

Of which: financing for real estate construction
and development (including land) 1 8 0 0 0 0 (4)

Other households 3,822 15,273 0 0 0 0 (4,726)

TOTAL 4,631 20,952 0 0 0 0 (6,410)

Of which: to Stage 3

Public administrations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (financial business) 0 12 0 0 0 0 (9)

Non-financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 256 1,943 0 0 0 0 (1,289)

Of which: financing for real estate construction
and development (including land) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other households 1,203 5,256 0 0 0 0 (3,810)

STAGE 3 TOTAL 1,459 7,211 0 0 0 0 (5,108)

(*) Corresponds to "Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale".
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3.3.3 Concentration risk

Concentration risk is conceptually included within credit risk due to being the main source of risk, although it covers all types of
assets. Concentration risk is defined as that which may affect the Company's statement of profit or loss and its assets as a result of
holding financial instruments that have similar characteristics and may be affected in a similar manner by economic or other changes.

Concentration in customers or in “large exposures”

The Company does not have high exposure or concentration in specific customers.

Concentration by geographic location

Risk by geographic area is as follows:

CONCENTRATION BY GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION 31-12-2019
(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL SPAIN

REST OF THE
EUROPEAN

UNION AMERICA
REST OF THE

WORLD

Central banks and credit institutions 89 89 0 0 0

Public administrations 0 0 0 0 0

Central government 0 0 0 0 0

Other public administrations 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial corporations and individual entrepreneurs
(financial business) 1,800 1,800 0 0 0

Non-financial corporations and individual entrepreneurs (non-
financial business) 502,474 502,425 42 1 7

Real estate construction and development (including
land) 119 119 0 0 0

Civil engineering 19,717 19,717 0 0 0

Other 482,638 482,589 42 1 7

Large corporates 32 32 0 0 0

SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 482,606 482,557 42 1 7

Other households 985,335 984,648 552 62 74

Home purchase 64,862 64,855 7 0 0

Consumer 833,654 832,989 545 57 64

Other 86,819 86,804 0 5 10

TOTAL 1,489,698 1,488,962 594 63 81

CONCENTRATION BY GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION 31-12-2018
(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL SPAIN

REST OF THE
EUROPEAN

UNION AMERICA
REST OF THE

WORLD

Central banks and credit institutions 151 151 0 0 0

Public administrations 4,699 4,699 0 0 0

Other financial corporations and individual entrepreneurs
(financial business) 2,002 2,002 0 0 0

Non-financial corporations and individual entrepreneurs (non-
financial business) 474,141 474,078 46 1 15

Other households 1,000,413 999,658 545 124 85

TOTAL 1,481,406 1,480,588 591 125 100

The breakdown of risk in Spain by Autonomous Community is as follows:



3. Risk management
Nuevo Micro Bank | Financial Statements - 2019

42

CONCENTRATION BY AUTONOMOUS COMMUNITY 31-12-2019
(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ANDALUSIA
BALEARIC

ISLANDS
CANARY
ISLANDS

CASTILE-LA
MANCHA CASTILE-LEON CATALONIA GALICIA MADRID MURCIA

VALENCIAN
COMMUNITY

BASQUE
COUNTRY OTHER (*)

Central banks and credit institutions 89 89

Other financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (financial business) 1,800 409 59 110 62 35 487 66 189 39 169 40 135

Non-financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 502,425 87,217 12,496 27,470 12,434 12,285 164,916 17,755 66,042 10,560 37,995 17,326 35,929

Real estate construction and development
(including land) 119 49 3 54 1 12

Civil engineering 19,717 2,532 425 835 630 685 5,927 929 3,717 278 1,673 763 1,323

Other 482,589 84,636 12,068 26,635 11,804 11,600 158,935 16,826 62,324 10,282 36,310 16,563 34,606

Large corporates 32 13 19

SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 482,557 84,623 12,068 26,635 11,804 11,600 158,916 16,826 62,324 10,282 36,310 16,563 34,606

Other households 984,648 213,919 40,911 75,777 23,140 34,191 280,584 37,147 78,366 29,045 84,660 21,481 65,427

Home purchase 64,855 19,027 2,542 5,787 1,360 2,472 13,326 2,665 4,044 2,359 5,999 1,433 3,841

Consumer 832,989 176,248 35,571 63,691 19,540 27,510 243,062 30,203 69,135 24,632 70,568 18,226 54,603

Other 86,804 18,644 2,798 6,299 2,240 4,209 24,196 4,279 5,187 2,054 8,093 1,822 6,983

TOTAL 1,488,962 301,545 53,466 103,357 35,636 46,511 445,987 54,968 144,686 39,644 122,824 38,847 101,491

CONCENTRATION BY AUTONOMOUS COMMUNITY 31-12-2018
(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ANDALUSIA
BALEARIC

ISLANDS
CANARY
ISLANDS

CASTILE-LA
MANCHA CASTILE-LEON CATALONIA GALICIA MADRID MURCIA

VALENCIAN
COMMUNITY

BASQUE
COUNTRY OTHER (*)

Central banks and credit institutions 151 151

Public administrations 4,699

Other financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (financial business) 2,002 507 63 183 43 31 407 85 333 22 202 67 59

Non-financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 474,078 78,408 10,815 24,656 11,685 10,094 182,696 15,132 51,579 8,789 35,520 14,203 30,501

Other households 999,658 207,643 44,283 78,449 25,878 35,502 275,610 38,740 80,839 29,719 92,364 23,557 67,074

TOTAL 1,480,588 286,558 55,161 103,288 37,606 45,627 458,713 53,957 132,751 38,530 128,237 37,827 97,634

(*) Includes autonomous communities that combined represent no more than 10% of the total
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Concentration by economic sector

Loans to customers by activity were as follow (excluding advances):

CONCENTRATION BY ACTIVITY OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 31-12-2019

(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL

OF WHICH:
MORTGAGE

COLLATERAL

OF WHICH:
OTHER

COLLATERAL

SECURED LOANS. CARRYING AMOUNT BASED ON LATEST
AVAILABLE APPRAISAL (LOAN TO VALUE)

≤ 40% 
> 40%
≤ 60% 

> 60%
≤ 80% 

> 80%
≤100% 

>100%

Public administrations

Other financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (financial business) 1,800

Non-financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 498,725 22 22

Real estate construction and development
(including land)

119

Civil engineering 19,717

Other 478,889 22 22

Large corporates 32

SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 478,857 22 22

Other households 985,235 3 3

Home purchase 64,862

Consumer 833,654 3 3

Other 86,719

TOTAL 1,485,760 25 3 22

Memorandum items: Refinancing, refinanced and
restructured transactions

11,578

CONCENTRATION BY ACTIVITY OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 31-12-2018
(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL

OF WHICH:
MORTGAGE

COLLATERAL

OF WHICH:
OTHER

COLLATERAL

SECURED LOANS. CARRYING AMOUNT BASED ON LATEST
AVAILABLE APPRAISAL (LOAN TO VALUE)

≤ 40% 
> 40%
≤ 60% 

> 60%
≤ 80% 

> 80%
≤100% 

>100%

Public administrations

Other financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (financial business) 2,002

Non-financial corporations and individual
entrepreneurs (non-financial business) 474,141 15 15

Other households 996,500 5 5

TOTAL 1,472,643 20 5 15

Memorandum items: Refinancing, refinanced and
restructured transactions

14,542
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BREAKDOWN OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS BY TYPE AND ARREARS STATUS
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3

Loan type and status

Public administrations 0 0 0

Other financial corporations 1,037 819 94 827 1,232 41

Loans and advances to companies and individual
entrepreneurs 337,043 173,745 29,047 227,879 255,178 26,683

Real estate construction and development
(including land) 14,127 4,844 869 48 85 5

Other companies and individual entrepreneurs 322,916 168,901 28,178 227,831 255,093 26,678

Other households 807,189 201,730 37,140 871,111 143,541 37,346

Home purchase 54,984 11,350 1,814 65,577 6,713 1,631

Other 752,205 190,380 35,326 805,534 136,828 35,715

TOTAL 1,145,269 376,294 66,281 1,099,817 399,951 64,070

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

By arrears status

Of which: default on payment of less than 30 days or up to date on payments 1,517,376 1,497,580

Of which: default on payment between 30 and 60 days 10,217 9,481

Of which: default on payment between 60 and 90 days 1,615 1,593

Of which: default on payment between 90 days and 6 months 18,067 17,501

Of which: default on payment between 6 months and 1 year 24,662 24,126

Of which: default on payment of more than 1 year 15,907 13,557

By interest rate type

Fixed 1,530,516 1,533,531

Floating 57,328 30,307

BREAKDOWN OF HEDGES OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS BY TYPE
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3

Public administrations

Other financial corporations (16) (71) (63) (16) (52) (30)

Loans and advances to companies and individual
entrepreneurs (5,841) (13,557) (21,712) (4,829) (12,152) (18,618)

Real estate construction and development
(including land) (4) (8) (3)

Other companies and individual entrepreneurs (5,841) (13,553) (21,712) (4,829) (12,144) (18,615)

Other households (13,231) (21,999) (25,594) (10,691) (17,515) (27,292)

Home purchase (761) (1,253) (1,272) (757) (774) (1,195)

Other (12,470) (20,746) (24,322) (9,934) (16,741) (26,097)

TOTAL (19,088) (35,627) (47,369) (15,536) (29,719) (45,940)

Of which: identified individually

Of which: identified collectively (19,088) (35,627) (47,370) (15,536) (29,719) (45,940)

3.3.4 Financing for real estate construction and development

The Company has no material exposure allocated to financing for real estate construction and development.
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3.4.1. Overview

Operational risk is defined as the possibility of incurring losses due to the failure or unsuitability of processes, people, internal systems

and external events.

For operational risk management, the Company applies a comprehensive measurement and control model, which is common to the

entire CaixaBank Group.

The overall objective of managing this risk is to improve the quality of business management, supplying information on operational

risks to allow decisions to be made that ensure the organisation's long-term continuity, improvements to its processes and the quality

of both internal and external customer service, in accordance with the regulatory framework established, and the optimisation of

capital consumption.

The overall objective comprises a number of specific objectives:

 To adopt measures to mitigate and sustainably reduce operational losses.

 To ensure the organisation's long-term continuity.

 To promote the establishment of systems for continuous improvement of the operating process and of the control structure.

 To exploit operational risk management synergies.

 To promote an operational risk management culture.

 To comply with the current regulatory framework and requirements for the applicability of the management and calculation

models chosen.

3.4.2. Operational risk cycle

Although the standard method is used to calculate regulatory capital, the Company's operational risk measurement and management

is based on policies, processes, tools and methodologies that are risk-sensitive, in line with market best practices.

Operational risks are structured into four categories or hierarchical levels, from the most generic to the most specific and detailed:

 Tiers 1 and 2 of the regulations. Tier 1 comprises 7 sub-categories (Internal Fraud, External Fraud, Employment

Practices & Workplace Safety; Clients, Products & Business Practices; Damage to Physical Assets; Business Disruption and System

Failures; and Execution, Delivery & Process Management) and Tier 2 comprises 20 sub-categories.

 Tier 3: internal Company tier based on identification of the risks set out

 Tier 4: individual risks, obtained after allocation of a Tier 3 risk to a process or activity

Operational risk is measured with the following aspects:

 Qualitative measurement: operational risks are subjected to self-assessments on an annual basis which, with regard to

operational risk, make it possible to: i) obtain greater knowledge of the operational risk profile and the new critical risk; and ii)

maintain a standardised update process for the taxonomy of operational risks, which is the foundation upon which this risk's

management is defined.

A series of expert workshops and meetings are also held to generate hypothetical extreme operational loss scenarios. The

objective is to use these scenarios to detect areas of improvement in the management and to supplement the available external

and internal historical data on operational losses.

 Quantitative measurement: the internal operational loss database is one of the foundations for managing operational risk (and

the future calculation of capital for operational risk). With this aim in mind, the technological environment of the operational

risk system provides all the functionality required and is fully integrated into transactional system and information system.

An operational event is the implementation of an identified operational risk, an event that causes an operational loss. The

operational event is the most important and central concept in the internal database model. An event can have none (in this

case we refer to “near losses”), one, or multiple loss effects; loss effects are defined as each individual economic impact related

to an operational loss or recovery.

3.4. Operational risk
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Lastly, the internal historical data of operational losses are supplemented by external data. For this reason, CaixaBank, the Group

of which the Company belongs to, is registered with the ORX (Operational Riskdata eXchange) consortium, which anonymously

exchanges operational loss information from banks on a worldwide level, and allows geographical subgrouping, among other

functions, to manage risks (news service, working groups, methodological initiatives on operational risk). ORX requires its

members to classify operational loss data using a series of parameters, both regulatory and proprietary. As a result, all of the

parameters required by the ORX are reported in events in the database.

 Additionally, measurement via Operational Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) is a quantitative/qualitative methodology that: i) enable us

to anticipate the development of operational risks, taking a forward-looking approach to their management and ii) provide

information on development of the operational risk profile and the reasons for this. A KRI is a metric that detects and anticipates

changes in said risk; its monitoring and management is integrated in the operational risk corporate management tool. KRIs are

not by nature a direct result of risk exposure. They are metrics that can be used to identify and actively manage operational risk.

3.4.3. Mitigation of operational risk

With the aim of mitigating the operational risk, action plans that entail appointing a centre to be in charge, setting out the actions to

be undertaken to mitigate the risk, the percentage or degree of progress, which is updated regularly, and the plan's final commitment

date have been defined. This allows mitigation via i) decreasing the frequency at which the events occur, as well as their impact; ii)

have in place a solid control structure based on policies, methodologies, processes and systems; and iii) integrate information

generated by the operational risk management mechanisms into the Entity's day-to-day management.

In addition, the corporate insurance programme for dealing with operational risk is designed to cover certain risks, and it is updated

annually. Risk transfer depends on risk exposure, tolerance and appetite at any given time.

Structural rate risk is deemed the sensitivity of the Company's financial margin to changes in market interest rates. The Company's

Management is tasked with managing this risk. If necessary, it has the support of the specialised departments that its Sole

Shareholder maintains for this purpose.

However, it should be noted that, on the one hand, the Company's credit investment chiefly comprises small loans at a fixed interest

rate, with regular reviews based on the customer's risk level. On the other hand, the Company tries to obtain fixed-rate financing

(natural balance sheet hedges) or it contracts IRS (Interest Rate Swaps) through which it turns its variable-rate financing into fixed-

rate financing.

In order to establish an efficient and stable coverage of interest rate risk over time, the Company undertakes the following:

 Contracts different swaps with CaixaBank that have allowed it to set the interest rate on loans it has received from the CEB

(those that are variable rate);

 It maintains loan facility with CaixaBank whereby the Bank makes loan drawdowns basically on a monthly basis, at a fixed interest

rate (Euribor plus a differential that has stood between 0.34% and 0.99% in the last two years);

 It maintains four loans with the EIB at a fixed interest rate, the last of which was formalised on 25 October 2017 at a 0.57%

interest rate, as well as two other loans with the CEB (Council of Europe Development Bank) at a fixed rate, with a final drawdown

formalised on 27 June 2018 at a 0.31% interest rate; and

 It makes drawdowns from the credit account – also contracted with CaixaBank – at a variable rate that may be reviewed annually,

for immediate liquidity needs.

3.5. Structural rate risk
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3.6.1 General description

Liquidity and funding risk is the risk of insufficient liquid assets or limited access to market financing to meet contractual maturities
of liabilities, regulatory requirements, or the investment needs of the Company.

The Company's funding comes from funds that are almost entirely from Group companies (CaixaBank and BPI). CaixaBank Group
manages this risk to maintain sufficient levels so that it can comfortably meet all its payment obligations and to prevent its investment
activities from being affected by a lack of lendable funds, at all times within the risk appetite framework. The strategic principles that
are followed to meet this objective are:

 Decentralised liquidity management system in two autonomous units (the CaixaBank sub-group and the BPI sub-group), in which
a segregation of functions exists to ensure optimal management, control and monitoring of risks.

 Maintenance of an efficient level of liquid funds to meet obligations assumed, fund business plans and comply with regulatory
requirements.

 Actively manages liquidity; this entails continuous monitoring of liquid assets and the balance sheet structure.

 Sustainability and stability, these being principles of the funding source strategy, which is based on i) the customer deposit-
based funding structure and ii) wholesale funding markets, complementing the funding structure.

The Group's liquidity risk strategy and appetite for liquidity and funding risk involves:

 identifying significant liquidity risks for the Group;

 formulating the strategic principles the Group must observe in managing each of these risks;

 defining significant metrics for each risk;

 establishing appetite, tolerance and, where applicable, recovery thresholds within the Risk Appetite Framework (RAF);

 developing management and control procedures for each of these risks, including systematic internal and external monitoring

mechanisms;

 defining a stress testing framework and a Liquidity Contingency Plan to ensure that liquidity risk is managed accordingly in

situations of moderate and serious crisis;

 and a Recovery Planning framework, in which scenarios and measures are devised for higher stress conditions.

In particular, CaixaBank Group holds specific strategies with regard to: i) managing intraday liquidity risk; ii) managing short-term

liquidity; iii) managing sources of funding/concentrations; (iv) managing liquid assets; and (v) managing encumbered assets. Similarly,

CaixaBank Group has procedures to minimise liquidity risk in stress conditions through i) the early detection of the circumstances

through which it can be generated; ii) minimising negative impacts and iii) sound management to overcome a potential crisis

situation.

3.6.2. Mitigation techniques for liquidity risk

On the basis of the principles mentioned in the previous section, a CaixaBank Group Contingency Plan has been drawn up defining

an action plan for each of the established crisis scenarios. This sets out measures to be taken on the commercial, institutional and

disclosure level to deal with this kind of situation, including the possibility of using the liquidity reserves or extraordinary sources of

funding. In the event of a situation of stress, the liquid asset buffer will be managed with the objective of minimising liquidity risk.

The measures in place for liquidity risk management and anticipatory measures feature:

 Authority from the CaixaBank Annual General Meeting to issue securities.

 Availability of several facilities open with i) the ICO, under credit facilities – mediation, ii) the EIB and iii) the CEB. Furthermore,

there are financing instruments with the European Central Bank for which a number of guarantees have been posted to

ensure that liquidity can be obtained immediately.

 Maintaining issuance programmes aimed at expediting formalisation of securities issuances in the market.

3.6. Liquidity and funding risk
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4. Capital adequacy management

The basic regulations governing access to activity and credit institution activity is known as Basel III, which has been incorporated
into European law through Directive 2013/36/EU (CRD 4) on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision
of credit institutions and investment companies, and Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (CRR) on prudential requirements for credit
institutions and investment firms. While the CRR was directly applicable to Spain, the CRD 4 was transposed into Spanish regulations
through the Act 10/2014 on the regulation, supervision and solvency of credit institutions and its subsequent regulatory
implementation through Royal Decree Law 84/2015 and Bank of Spain Circular 2/2016.

A process of amending CRR and CRD 4 began in 2016, which has led to the entry into force, in 2019 of CRR 2 and CRD 5, which are
generally expected to be applied in 2021 in the case of CRR 2 and at the end of 2020 in the case of CRD 5.

Within the framework of CaixaBank Group, and in accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned regulations, in 2009 the
Company obtained from the Bank of Spain, the exemption from individual compliance with the general own funds requirements,
stating that the Company meets all the requirements of the regulations in force for these purposes, and there are no future or
foreseeable practical impediments or legal instruments for the immediate transfer of own funds or reimbursement of liabilities.

The composition of CaixaBank Group’s eligible own funds is as follows:

CAPITAL RATIOS OF CAIXABANK GROUP
(Millions of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

CET1 (*) 12.00% 11.50%

Minimum required: 8.78% 8.75%

Tier 1 13.50% 13.00%

Minimum required: 10.30% 10.25%

Total Capital 15.70% 15.30%

Minimum required: 12.30% 12.25%
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5. Appropriation of profit

The appropriation of the Company's profit in 2019, to be presented by the Board of Directors for approval by the Sole Shareholder, is as
follows:

APPROPRIATION OF MICROBANK PROFIT
(Thousands of euros)

2019

Distribution basis

Profit/(loss) 34,704

Distribution:

To dividends 10,411

To dividend 10,411

To reserves 24,293

To legal reserve (1)

To voluntary reserve (2) 24,293

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 34,704

(1) It is not necessary to transfer part of the 2019 profit to the legal reserve, as this reserve has reached 20% of the share capital (art. 274 of the Spanish Corporate
Enterprises Act).

(2) Estimated amount allocated to the voluntary reserve. This amount will increase by the same amount that the amounts earmarked for payment of the final dividend
decreases.
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6. Shareholder remuneration and earnings per share

The following dividends were distributed in this year:

DIVIDENDS PAID IN 2019
(Thousands of euros)

EUROS PER
SHARE

AMOUNT PAID IN
CASH PAYMENT DATE

Dividend – 2018 0.1 9,208 08-05-2019

TOTAL 9,208

Basic and diluted earnings per share of the Company are as follows:

CALCULATION OF BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Numerator 34,704 30,696

Profit/(loss) for the period 34,704 30,696

Denominator (thousands of shares) 90,186 90,186

Average number of shares outstanding (1) 90,186 90,186

Adjusted number of shares (denominator of basic earnings per share) 90,186 90,186

Basic earnings per share (in euros) 0.38 0.34

Diluted earnings per share (in euros) (2) 0.38 0.34

(1) Thousands of outstanding shares at the start of the year.
(2) The Company does not hold any instruments that produce dilutive effects on the number of shares, thus, the basic earnings per share matches the diluted earnings per
share.

6.1. Shareholder remuneration

6.2. Earnings per share
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7. Business combinations and mergers

There were no business combinations in 2018 and 2019.
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8. Remuneration of key management personnel

The breakdown and details of remuneration received by the Board of Directors are as follows:

REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Remuneration for board membership

Non-variable remuneration 1,190 817

Variable remuneration 60

In cash 30

Share-based remuneration schemes 30

Other long-term benefits

Other items (*)

TOTAL 1.250 817

Composition of the Board of Directors

Female 1 1

Male 8 9

(*) No amounts have been recognised for Directors taking out civil liability insurance premiums, as this insurance is taken out by the Group's parent company, CaixaBank, S.A.

The Company does not have any pension obligations with former or current members of the Board of Directors in their capacity as

such.

There are no termination benefits agreed in the event of termination of the appointment as Director, except for those agreed with

the Chief Executive Officer.

The breakdown and details of remuneration received by the Senior Management of the Company are as follows:

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Salary (1) 883 1,132

Post-employment benefits (2) 5

Other long-term benefits

Other positions in Group companies

TOTAL REMUNERATION 888 1,132

Composition of Senior Management

Female 1 2

Male 5 5

(1) This amount includes fixed remuneration, remuneration in kind and total variable remuneration received by members of the Senior Management. The variable
remuneration corresponds to the proportional part of the target bonus for the year, estimating 100% achievement.

(2) Includes insurance premiums and discretionary pension benefits.

8.2. Remuneration of Senior Management

8.1. Remuneration of the Board of

Directors
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In some cases, the employment contracts with members of the Senior Management contain clauses on termination benefits for the

early termination or rescission of such contracts.

At year-end 2019, the Company's Directors have not informed the other members of the Board of Directors of any situations of direct

or indirect conflict that they or persons related to them may have with the interests of the Company.

8.3. Other information relating to the

Board of Directors
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9. Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income

The breakdown of this heading is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE WITH CHANGES IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

Equity instruments 3,709 3,775

Shares in non-listed companies * 3,709 3,775

TOTAL 3,709 3,775

Equity instruments

Of which: gross unrealised gains 110 176

Of which: gross unrealised losses

(*) Corresponds to the 0.07% stake in the European Investment Fund (EIF)
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10. Financial assets at amortised cost

The breakdown of this heading is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST – 31-12-2019
(Thousands of euros)

VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS

GROSS
BALANCE

IMPAIRMENT
ALLOWANCES

ACCRUED
INTEREST

FEES AND
COMMISSIONS OTHER

BALANCE
SHEET

AMOUNT

Debt securities 0 0

Loans and advances 1,582,909 (102,084) 9,102 (4,115) 0 1,485,812

Central banks 0

Credit institutions 0

Customers 1,582,909 (102,084) 9,102 (4,115) 1,485,812

TOTAL 1,582,909 (102,084) 9,102 (4,115) 0 1,485,812

BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST – 31-12-2018
(Thousands of euros)

VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS

GROSS
BALANCE

IMPAIRMENT
ALLOWANCES

ACCRUED
INTEREST

FEES AND
COMMISSIONS OTHER

BALANCE
SHEET

AMOUNT

Debt securities 4,699 4,699

Loans and advances 1,558,138 (91,195) 9,540 (3,789) 0 1,472,694

Central banks 0

Credit institutions 0

Customers 1,558,138 (91,195) 9,540 (3,789) 1,472,694

TOTAL 1,562,837 (91,195) 9,540 (3,789) 0 1,477,393

The breakdown of this heading is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF DEBT SECURITIES
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

Spanish government debt securities 4,699

Other Spanish issuers

Other foreign issuers

TOTAL 0 4,699

The breakdown of changes in the gross carrying amount (amount on balance sheet without considering value corrections due to

impairment of assets) of loans and advances to customers is as follows:

10.1. Debt securities

10.2. Loans and advances
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CHANGES IN LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS – 2019
(Thousands of euros)

TO STAGE 1: TO STAGE 2: TO STAGE 3: TOTAL

Opening balance 1,099,868 399,951 64,070 1,563,889

Transfers (88,231) 32,303 55,928 0

From stage 1: (122,229) 102,198 20,031 0

From stage 2: 33,924 (73,620) 39,696 0

From stage 3: 74 3,725 (3,799) 0

New financial assets 546,140 75,865 7,212 629,217

Financial asset disposals (other than write-offs) (412,456) (131,825) (5,507) (549,788)

Write-offs (55,422) (55,422)

CLOSING BALANCE 1,145,321 376,294 66,281 1,587,896

CHANGES IN LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS – 2018
(Thousands of euros)

TO STAGE 1: TO STAGE 2: TO STAGE 3: TOTAL

Opening balance 960,249 450,476 53,927 1,464,652

1st-time adoption of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 (32,863) 32,864 (1) 0

Adjusted opening balance 927,386 483,340 53,926 1,464,652

Transfers (89,668) 33,299 56,369 0

From stage 1: (116,851) 111,286 5,565 0

From stage 2: 24,167 (105,128) 80,961 0

From stage 3: 3,016 27,141 (30,157) 0

New financial assets 769,822 7,739 2,138 779,699

Financial asset disposals (other than write-offs) (540,535) (91,563) (4,176) (636,274)

Write-offs (44,188) (44,188)

CLOSING BALANCE 1,099,868 399,951 64,070 1,563,889

CHANGES IN IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS – 2019
(Thousands of euros)

TO STAGE 1: TO STAGE 2: TO STAGE 3: TOTAL

Opening balance 15,536 29,719 45,940 91,195

Net allowances 3,552 5,908 31,521 40,981

From stage 1: (4,893) 7,288 10,164 12,559

From stage 2: (2,587) (5,916) 15,985 7,482

From stage 3: (505) (4,485) (910) (5,900)

New financial assets 11,537 9,047 6,290 26,874

Disposals (26) (8) (34)

Amounts used (30,092) (30,092)

Transfers and other 0

CLOSING BALANCE 19,088 35,627 47,369 102,084
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CHANGES IN IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES OF LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS – 2018
(Thousands of euros)

TO STAGE 1: TO STAGE 2: TO STAGE 3: TOTAL

Opening balance 23,092 44,944 32,115 100,151

1st-time adoption of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 (13,421) (25,810) 2,683 (36,548)

Adjusted opening balance 9,671 19,134 34,798 63,603

Net allowances 5,865 10,585 55,346 71,796

Amounts used (44,188) (44,188)

Transfers and other (16) (16)

CLOSING BALANCE 15,536 29,719 45,940 91,195
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11. Derivatives – Hedge accounting

All the hedging transactions carried out by the Company correspond to cash flow hedges, in order to cover the interest rate risk on
deposits from credit institutions, recognised under "Financial liabilities at amortised cost" and contracted with CaixaBank.
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12. Tangible assets

The breakdown of balance sheet changes under this heading is as follows:

CHANGES IN TANGIBLE ASSETS
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

FURNITURE,
FACILITIES AND

OTHER IT EQUIPMENT RIGHTS OF USE

FURNITURE,
FACILITIES AND

OTHER IT EQUIPMENT

Cost

Opening balance 1,004 103 879 149

1st-time adoption of IFRS 16 (Note 1) 3,301

Additions 129 8 750 7

Disposals (63) (625) (53)

Transfers

CLOSING BALANCE 1,133 111 3,238 1,004 103

Accumulated depreciation

Opening balance (157) (84) (540) (125)

Additions (127) (12) (357) (119) (12)

Disposals 13 502 53

Transfers

CLOSING BALANCE (284) (96) (344) (157) (84)

OWN USE, NET 849 15 2,894 847 19

Selected information about property, plant and equipment of own use is presented below:

OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT FOR OWN USE
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

Fully amortised assets still in use 114 90

Commitments to acquire intangible assets Insignificant Insignificant

Assets with ownership restrictions Insignificant Insignificant

Assets covered under an insurance policy (1) Yes Yes

(1) The Company is a beneficiary of a corporate policy subscribed by CaixaBank with a third party covering material damage to its tangible assets.
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13. Intangible assets

The breakdown of balance sheet changes under this heading is as follows:

CHANGES IN OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

SOFTWARE OTHER ASSETS SOFTWARE OTHER ASSETS

Gross cost

Opening balance 1,026 570

Additions 605 456

SUBTOTAL 0 1,631 0 1,026

Accumulated depreciation

Opening balance (391) (275)

Additions (200) (116)

CLOSING BALANCE 0 (591) 0 (391)

TOTAL 0 1,040 0 635

Selected information related to intangible assets is set out below:

OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

Fully amortised assets still in use 164 149

Commitments to acquire intangible assets Insignificant Insignificant

Assets with ownership restrictions Insignificant Insignificant
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14. Other assets and other liabilities

The breakdown of these items in the balance sheet is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

Prepayments and accrued income 16,689 12,656

Of which: pending subsidies from the European Investment Fund 15,808 11,760

Other 23 14

TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 16,712 12,670

Prepayments and accrued income 21,715 22,781

Of which: balance outstanding to CaixaBank for the agency contract 21,388 20,776

Other 2.400 2,411

TOTAL OTHER LIABILITIES 24,115 25,192
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15. Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The breakdown of the balances under this heading is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 31-12-2019
(Thousands of euros)

VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS

GROSS
BALANCE

ACCRUED
INTEREST MICROHEDGES

TRANSACTION
COSTS

PREMIUMS
AND

DISCOUNTS

BALANCE
SHEET

AMOUNT

Deposits 1,128,217 501 1,128,718

Credit institutions 1,085,892 500 1,086,392

Customers 42,325 1 42,326

Other financial liabilities 3,923 3,923

TOTAL 1,132,140 501 0 0 0 1,132,641

BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 31-12-2018
(Thousands of euros)

VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS

GROSS
BALANCE

ACCRUED
INTEREST MICROHEDGES

TRANSACTION
COSTS

PREMIUMS
AND

DISCOUNTS

BALANCE
SHEET

AMOUNT

Deposits 1,133,786 586 1,134,372

Credit institutions 1,090,739 586 1,091,325

Customers 43,047 43,047

Other financial liabilities 402 402

TOTAL 1,134,188 586 1,134,774

This heading includes loans and credit policies that the Company has obtained in order to finance its activity.

The breakdown of the gross balances under this heading is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF DEPOSITS FROM CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

Demand 35,028 17,019

Other accounts 35,028 17,019

Time or at notice 1,050,864 1,073,720

Deposits with agreed maturity 1,050,864 1,073,720

TOTAL 1,085,892 1,090,739

15.1. Deposits from credit institutions
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BREAKDOWN OF FUNDING AT 31-12-2019

(Thousands of euros)

OUTSTANDING CAPITAL
AND INTEREST

AVERAGE
INTEREST RATE

AVERAGE
MATURITY

Loans with third parties 386,465

Council of Europe Development Bank 196,250 0.44% 46

European Investment Bank (EIB) 160,000 0.48% 60

Official Credit Institute (ICO) 30,215 0.16% 25

Loans with Group credit institutions 664,399

CaixaBank 664,399 0.59% 19

Policies with Group credit institutions (1) 35,028

CaixaBank 35,028 0.65% 12

TOTAL 1,085,892 26

(1) The undrawn amounts of credit policies held with CaixaBank at 31 December 2019 amounted to EUR 19,976 thousand.

The breakdown of the gross balances under this heading is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

By type 42,325 43,047

Current accounts and other demand deposits 18,726 18,290

Savings accounts 23,599 24,757

By sector 42,325 43,047

Public administrations 67 59

Private sector 42,258 42,988

The breakdown of the gross balances under this heading is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

Payment obligations 876 287

Tax collection accounts 114 109

Other items 6 6

Liabilities associated with assets for rights of use (Note 1) 2,927

TOTAL 3,923 402

15.2. Customer deposits

15.3. Other financial liabilities
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16. Provisions

The breakdown of the changes of the balance under this heading is as follows:

CHANGES IN PROVISIONS
(Thousands of euros)

PENSIONS AND
OTHER POST-

EMPLOYMENT
DEFINED BENEFIT

OBLIGATIONS

OTHER LONG-
TERM EMPLOYEE

BENEFITS

PENDING LEGAL ISSUES AND
TAX LITIGATION

COMMITMENTS AND
GUARANTEES GIVEN

OTHER
PROVISIONS

LEGAL
CONTINGENCIE

S
PROVISIONS FOR

TAXES
CONTINGENT

RISKS
CONTINGENT

COMMITMENTS

BALANCE AT 31-12-2017 329 5

Charged to the statement of
profit or loss 80 5

Provision 80 5

Use of funds (73)

Transfers and other (1)

BALANCE AT 31-12-2018 336 9

Charged to the statement of
profit or loss 79 2

Provision 79 2

Transfers and other 19

BALANCE AT 31-12-2019 434 11

The commitments assumed by the Company to cover the contingencies of the death and disability of employees during the period

in which they remain active are covered by an internal fund and are based on the provisions of the Collective Banking Agreement.

Given the nature of these obligations, the expected timing of outflows of funds embodying economic benefits, should they arise, is

uncertain.

Tax years subject to tax inspection

On 24 July 2018, the Spanish tax authorities notified CaixaBank, S.A. (head of the consolidated Corporation Tax group) of the

beginning of an inspection for Corporation Tax, and other tax applicable to it for the years 2013 to 2015, inclusive. Accordingly, the

consolidated group has the year 2016 and following open for review for the main applicable taxes.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, there were no ongoing disputes other than those mentioned in the previous paragraph that, in the

opinion of the Company's Directors, could have a significant impact on the Company's equity situation.

16.1. Provisions for other employee
benefits

16.2. Provisions for pending legal issues
and tax litigation
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17. Equity

Share capital

Selected information on the figures and type of share capital figures is presented below:

INFORMATION ABOUT SHARE CAPITAL

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

Number of fully subscribed and paid up shares (units) (1) 90,185,564 90,185,564

Par value per share (euros) 1 1

Sole Shareholder CaixaBank CaixaBank

(1) All shares have been recognised by book entries and provide the same rights.

Reserves

The breakdown of the balance under this heading is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF RESERVES

(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

Legal reserve (1) 18,037 18,037

Voluntary reserve 215,582 194,094

Other reserves

TOTAL 233,619 212,131

(1) At the 2019 year-end, the legal reserve has reached the minimum amount required by the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act.

17.1. Shareholders' equity
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18. Tax position

The consolidated tax group for Corporation Tax includes CaixaBank, as the parent, and subsidiaries include Spanish companies in the

commercial group that comply with the requirements for inclusion under regulations, including the MicroBank.

Similarly, CaixaBank and some of its subsidiaries – including MicroBank – have belonged to a consolidated tax group for value added

tax (VAT) since 2008, the parent company of which is CaixaBank.

The Company's reconciliation of accounting profit to taxable profit is presented below:

RECONCILIATON OF ACCOUNTING PROFIT TO TAXABLE PROFIT
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Profit/(loss) before tax (A) 49,690 43,862

Adjustments to profit (loss)

Taxable income/(tax loss)

Tax payable (taxable income * 30%) (1) (14,906) (13,158)

Tax relief and tax credits

Other credits and tax benefits

Corporation tax rate for the year (14,906) (13,158)

Tax adjustments (80) (8)

Tax adjustments for expense recognised against reserves

Other tax

Income tax (B) (14,986) (13,166)

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX (A) + (B) 34,704 30,696

(1) Income and expenses within the Tax Group, the parent company of which is CaixaBank, S.A., are taxed at the general rate of 30% in Corporation Tax.

The changes in the balance of these headings is as follows:

CHANGES IN DEFERRED TAX ASSETS – 2019
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2017
REGULARISA

TIONS
ADDITIO

NS
DISPOSA

LS 31-12-2018
REGULARISAT

IONS
ADDITIO

NS
DISPOSA

LS 31-12-2019

Pension plan contributions 102 4 106 34 0 140

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 16 (2) 14 (2) 12

NPL provisions 18,363 7,731 0 26,094 2,524 (7,767) 20,851

Allowances for credit losses (Circular
4/2017) (1) (9,417) 0 (9,417) 10,136 719

Cash flow hedges 246 (165) 81 (67) 14

TOTAL 18,727 (9,417) 7,735 (167) 16,878 10,136 2,558 (7,836) 21,736

(1) In accordance with transitory provision thirty-nine of the Spanish Corporation Tax Act, the amount to include in the tax base in 2019 stands at EUR 2,397 thousand (the amount included in 2018
was EUR 2,397 thousand), and EUR 2,397 thousand remains to be included.

18.1. Tax consolidation

18.3. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

18.2. Reconciliation of accounting profit

to taxable profit
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CHANGES IN DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES – 2019
(Thousands of euros)

31-12-2017
REGULARISATI

ONS
ADDITI

ONS
DISPOS

ALS 31-12-2018
REGULARISAT

IONS
ADDITIO

NS
DISPOSA

LS 31-12-2019
Tax liabilities on measurement of
financial assets at fair value with
changes in other comprehensive
income 35 18 53 (20) 33

TOTAL 53 (20) 33

The Company does not have any significant unrecognised deferred tax assets.

CaixaBank, S.A., the parent of the consolidated tax group to which the Company belongs assesses the recoverable amount of its
recognised deferred tax assets. To do so, it has developed a model based on the Group’s projected results. The model has been
prepared together with an independent expert and is updated every six months, adjusting the assumptions made in the analysis to
the real situation at each given moment, to include any deviations from reality with respect to the model. At 31 December 2019, the
results of the model and the backtesting exercises support the recoverability of the deferred tax assets within the legal recovery
period. Likewise, in the current interest-rate environment, the nominal amount of deferred tax assets does not differ significantly
from present value.
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19. Guarantees and contingent commitments given

The breakdown of “Guarantees and contingent commitments given” included as memorandum items in the balance sheet, is set

out below:

BREAKDOWN OF EXPOSURE AND COVERAGE ON GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT COMMITMENTS 31-12-2019
(Thousands of euros)

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE HEDGE

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3

Financial guarantees given 70 17 1 (1)

Loan commitments given 393 37 (3) (7)

BREAKDOWN OF EXPOSURE AND COVERAGE ON GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT COMMITMENTS 31-12-2018
(Thousands of euros)

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE HEDGE

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3

Financial guarantees given 60 27 (2)

Loan commitments given 475 (7)

The Company is only obliged to pay the sum of contingent liabilities if the counterparty guaranteed fails to comply with its obligations

at the time of non-compliance. It believes that most of these risks will reach maturity without being settled.
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20. Other significant disclosures

Changes in the items derecognised from the balance sheet because recovery was deemed remote are summarised below. These

financial assets are recognised under “Suspended assets” in the memorandum accounts supplementing the balance sheet:

CHANGES IN WRITTEN-OFF ASSETS
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

OPENING BALANCE 155,982 110,409

Additions: 62,036 49,183

Disposals: 4,949 3,609

Cash recovery of principal (Note 27) 4,535 3,400

Due to expiry of the statute-of-limitations period, forgiveness or any other cause 414 209

CLOSING BALANCE 213,069 155,983

Of which: interest accrued on the non-performing loans 24,338 17,164
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21. Interest and similar income

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF INTEREST INCOME
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Loans and advances to customers and other financial income 129,914 133,456

Personal loans 126,588 130,391

Other 3,326 3,065

TOTAL 129,914 133,456

The average effective interest rate of the various financial assets categories calculated on average net balances (excluding

rectifications):

AVERAGE RETURN ON ASSETS
(Percentage)

2019 2018

Financial assets at amortised cost

Loans and advances to customers 8.28% 8.74%
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22. Interest expense and similar charges

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF INTEREST EXPENSES
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Credit institutions 5,982 7,290

Customer deposits and other finance costs 4 4

Adjustments to expenses as a consequence of hedging transactions 192 473

Other interest expenses 1 25

TOTAL 6,179 7,792

The average effective interest rate of the various financial liabilities categories calculated on average net balances (excluding

rectifications):

AVERAGE RETURN ON LIABILITIES
(Percentage)

2019 2018

Deposits from credit institutions 0.56% 0.72%

Customer deposits 0.01% 0.01%
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23. Fees and commissions

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Contingent liabilities 2 3

Collection and payment services 78 107

Other fees * 9,869 10,251

TOTAL 9,949 10,361

0

(*) Chiefly corresponds to the fees received by the Company for the maintenance of customer deposits and managing the collection of unpaid amounts.

BREAKDOWN OF FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Assigned to other entities and correspondents * (2,710) (2,640)

Securities transactions

Other fees

TOTAL (2,710) (2,640)

(*) Chiefly fees paid to Group Companies for guarantees.
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24. Other operating income and expense

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER OPERATING INCOME
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Financial fees and commissions offsetting direct costs 254

Other income (1) 13,083 10,484

TOTAL 13,083 10,738

(1) Chiefly corresponds to the deposit of the EIF subsidy granted to cover written-off operations up to a predetermined maximum amount. In 2019, it amounted to EUR
12,123 thousand (EUR 9,595 thousand in 2018).

The Company receives grants from the European Investment Fund, issued to cover losses arising from write-offs of certain

microcredits for entrepreneurs and micro-enterprises, and also – to a lesser extent – for students, granted over a certain period of

time.

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Deposit Guarantee Fund contributions (73) (76)

Contribution to the Single Resolution Fund (SRF) (329) (221)

Other items (8) (6)

TOTAL (410) (303)
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25. Personnel expenses

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF PERSONNEL EXPENSES
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Wages and salaries (1,991) (2,025)

Social security contributions (372) (308)

Transfers to defined contribution plans (15) (7)

Transfers to defined benefit plans (198)

Other personnel expenses (207)

TOTAL (2,585) (2,538)

There are benefits agreed in the event of termination of employee duties solely for:

“Other personnel expenses” includes, inter alia, training expenses, education grants and indemnities and other short-term benefits.

Below is the average number of employees, by professional category and gender:

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
(Number of employees)

2019 (*) 2018

MEN WOMEN

OF WHICH: WITH A
DISABILITY EQUAL TO OR

ABOVE 33% MEN WOMEN

OF WHICH: WITH A
DISABILITY EQUAL TO OR

ABOVE 33%

Directors 5 1 5 2

Rest of employees 11 11 9 9

TOTAL 16 12 0 14 11 0

(*) The distribution by professional category and gender at 31 December 2019 is not significantly different from that shown in the preceding table.
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26. Other administrative expenses

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

IT and systems (2,220) (1,986)

Advertising (1) (454) (402)

Property and fixtures (142) (412)

Communications (681) (531)

Outsourced administrative services (2) (22,067) (22,737)

Tax contributions (33) (32)

Membership fees (25) (23)

Representation and travel expenses (176) (195)

Technical reports (103) (93)

Governing and control bodies (1,185) (817)

Other expenses (162) (153)

TOTAL (27,248) (27,381)

(1) Includes advertising in media, sponsorships, promotions and other commercial expenses.

(2) Includes expenses in favour of CaixaBank, S.A., as a result of the agreement signed with CaixaBank obliging it to promote, execute and formalise – on behalf of Nuevo
Micro Bank, S.A.U. – microcredit operations and services, and expenses for the provision of management, administration and monitoring of all operations with or without
the intervention of CaixaBank, S.A., as an agent, for the amount of EUR 20,634 thousand (EUR 20,776 thousand in 2018).

"Technical reports" relates to fees and expenses, excluding the related VAT, paid to the auditor, broken down as follows:

EXTERNAL AUDITOR FEES (*)
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Auditor (PwC in 2019 and 2018) 62 46

Statutory audit 54 46

Other services 8

TOTAL 62 46

Information on the average payment period to suppliers

The following tables provide a breakdown of the required information relating to payments made and pending at the balance sheet date:

PAYMENTS MADE AND OUTSTANDING AT THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
(Thousands of euros)

AMOUNT

2019 2018

Total payments made 5,633 25,666

Total payments pending 679 287

TOTAL PAYMENTS IN THE YEAR 6,312 25,953

(1) Payments corresponding to the CaixaBank agency agreement are not included as of 2019.
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AVERAGE SUPPLIER PAYMENT PERIOD AND RATIOS
(Days)

DAYS

2019 2018

Average payment period to suppliers 40.98 12.03

Ratio of transactions paid 43.76 11.67

Ratio of transactions pending payment 17.92 44.26

In accordance with Transitional Provision Two of Act 15/2010, the general maximum statutory period is 30 days, which may be extended to 60

days upon agreement of the parties.
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27. Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows:

BREAKDOWN OF THE IMPAIRMENT OR REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT ON FINANCIAL ASSETS NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(Thousands of euros)

2019 2018

Financial assets at amortised cost (63,296) (69,483)

Loans and advances (63,296) (69,483)

Net allowances (Note 10) (40,981) (71,796)

Of which - Customers (40,981) (71,796)

Write-downs (26,850) (1,087)

Recovery of loans written off (Note 20) 4,535 3,400

TOTAL (63,296) (69,483)
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28. Information on the fair value

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

As regards the fair value of the items comprising the Balance Sheet, it should be noted that the change in the fair value of asset credit

transactions are offset by changes in the fair value of the financing transactions that cover them. Therefore, there is no material

effect on the Company's balance sheet.
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29. Disclosures required under the Mortgage Market Law

As referred to in article 12 of Royal Decree 716/2009, pursuant to the provisions of Circular 7/2010, on lending companies,

implementing certain aspects related to the mortgage market (and amending, in turn, Circular 4/2004, of 22 December, on lending

companies, on public and reserved financial reporting standards and financial statement models), the Company states that – due to

its operations– it does not have any assets under the mortgage market in its balance sheet in 2019 and 2018.
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30. Related party transactions

The "key management personnel" at MicroBank are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and

controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including all members of the Board of Directors and Senior

Management of MicroBank. Given their posts, each member of key management personnel is treated as a related party.

The most significant balances between the Company and its related parties that supplement the other balances of the notes to this

report are set out below. Details are also provided of the amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss from transactions

carried out. All transactions between related parties form part of the ordinary course of business and are carried out under normal

market conditions:

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND OPERATIONS
(Thousands of euros)

"LA CAIXA" BANKING
FOUNDATION AND ITS

GROUP (1)
SOLE SHAREHOLDER AND

GROUP COMPANIES
KEY MANAGEMENT

PERSONNEL

31-12-2019 31-12-2018 31-12-2019 31-12-2018 31-12-2019 31-12-2018

ASSETS

Loans and advances to credit institutions

Loans and advances

Of which: valuation adjustments

Equity instruments

Debt securities

TOTAL - -

LIABILITIES

Deposits from credit institutions 699,614 722,711

Customer deposits

Derivatives

TOTAL 699,614 722,711 - -

PROFIT OR LOSS

Interest income

Interest expenses (4,541) (4,845)

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission expenses (2,710) (2,640)

TOTAL (7,251) (7,485) - -

OTHER

Contingent liabilities

Contingent commitments

Post-employment benefits

TOTAL - -

(1) “Significant shareholder” refers to any shareholder that is the parent of or has joint control of or significant influence over the Group, the latter term as defined in IAS
28, irrespective of its economic rights. Along these lines they solely refer to balances and operations made with ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, CriteriaCaixa and its
subsidiaries. At 31 December 2019 CriteriaCaixa's stake in CaixaBank is 40%.

(2) Directors and Senior Management of MicroBank.

(3) Family members and entities related to members of the Board of Directors and Senior Management of MicroBank.
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Transactions between Group companies form part of the normal course of business and are carried out at arm's length.

Description of the relationship between MicroBank, CaixaBank, and ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation

MicroBank holds an agency agreement with its Sole Shareholder (CaixaBank, S.A.), which was signed in 2011 for an indefinite term,

with the aim of tasking the provision of a comprehensive management service for internal and external processes arising from the

financial operations undertaken by the Company with customers, designating CaixaBank, S.A. as the exclusive agent.

Furthermore, the Company holds two contracts with its Sole Shareholder for procedures relating to the plan to deliver shares to

personnel belonging to the identified staff, contracts for loans granted by the same and a service provision contract for procedures

which, in turn, the Sole Shareholder has entrusted to the Company and which are basically related to managing its Monte de Piedad.

CaixaBank, S.A., the Company's Sole Shareholder holds an Internal Relations Protocol with “la Caixa” Banking Foundation and

CriteriaCaixa that regulates the mechanisms and criteria for relations between CaixaBank, and ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, and

CriteriaCaixa.
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31. Other disclosure requirements

There is no significant environmental risk due to the activity of the Company, and therefore, it is not necessary to include any specific

breakdown on environmental information in the document (Order of the Ministry of Justice JUS/471/2017).

The Company is committed to carrying out its business, projects, products and services in the most environmentally-friendly way

possible.

In 2019, the Company did not receive any major fines or sanctions in relation to compliance with environmental regulations.

MicroBank is a member of the CaixaBank, S.A. Customer Service Office, which provides services to CaixaBank Group companies.

The Customer Service Office (SAC) is tasked with handling and resolving customer complaints and claims. This office has no

connections with commercial services and performs its duties with independent judgment and is aux fait with customer protection

rules.

If complaints are not resolved satisfactorily or the regulatory term has elapsed without obtaining a reply, claimants can contact the

complaints services of the supervisors, which are non-binding and the entity against which a complaint has been lodged may decide

whether its actions should be rectified according to the supervisor's conclusions.

Furthermore, the Customer Service Office's duties include executing the adopted rulings; identifying legal and operational risks by
analysing claims received and preparing and fostering improvement proposals to mitigate identified risks; ensuring the claims system
and system for reporting on claims management to the Company's governing bodies and to the supervisory authorities is fit for
purpose.

Similarly, the Customer Service Office takes part in the process of approving new products through the Products
Committee, anticipating possible problem areas based on the experience of claims.

The information regarding the MicroBank Customer Service for 2019 is set out below:

CLAIMS RECEIVED

(Number of claims)

2019 2018

HANDLED BY THE CUSTOMER SERVICE OFFICE 33 38

Customer Service Office (SAC) 33 38

FILED WITH THE SUPERVISORS' CLAIMS SERVICES 3 3

The number of reports or resolutions issued by customer services and the supervisors' claims services was as follows:

31.1. Environment

31.2. Customer service
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REPORTS ISSUED BY CUSTOMER SERVICES AND SUPERVISORS' CLAIMS SERVICES
Customer Service Office

(SAC) BANK OF SPAIN

TYPE OF RESOLUTION 2019 2018 (*) 2019 2018

Resolved in favour of the claimant 13 17 1 2

Resolved in favour of the Company 13 15 2 1

Other (rejected/unresolved) 7 5

TOTAL 33 37 3 3

(*) At the year-end, 1 claim was pending resolution.
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Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U., (hereinafter "MicroBank" the "Company" or the "Bank") is a limited company subject to the rules and

regulations for banking institutions operating in Spain. MicroBank is part of the CaixaBank Group (hereinafter CaixaBank Group or

the Group).

This Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. Management Report has been drawn up in accordance with the Commercial Code and Royal

Legislative Decree 1/2010, of 2 July, on Corporate Enterprises.

The forward-looking information contained in the different sections of this document reflects the plans, predictions or estimates

of the management of the Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U on the date of publication. This information is based on assumptions that are

deemed to be reasonable. However, the information presented herein should not be interpreted as a guarantee of the Company's

future performance. Indeed, any plans, predictions and estimates are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties and, therefore,

the Company's future performance may not necessarily coincide with its initial projections.

The financial information contained in this Management Report has been obtained from the accounting and management records of

Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. and it is presented in accordance with the criteria established in Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, of 27

November, and subsequent amendments.

With regard to Non-Financial Information and Diversity, Act 11/2018, of 28 December, amending the Commercial Code, the revised

text of the Corporate Enterprises Act approved by Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010, of 2 July, and Act 22/2015, of 20 July, on Financial

Audits, were taken into consideration. The non-financial information corresponding to Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U. is included in

CaixaBank Group's Consolidated Management Report, which is available alongside CaixaBank Group's Consolidated Financial

Statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, which will be filed in the Valencia Companies Registry.

MicroBank Management Report for 2019
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Our identity

CaixaBank Group is a financial group with a socially responsible, long-term universal

banking model, based on quality, trust, and specialisation, which offers a value

proposition of products and services adapted for each segment, adopting innovation

as a strategic challenge and a distinguishing feature of its corporate culture, and whose

leading position in retail banking in Spain and Portugal makes it a key player in

supporting sustainable economic growth.

CaixaBank, S.A. is the parent company of a group of financial services whose shares are

traded on the stock exchanges of Barcelona, Madrid, Valencia and Bilbao, and on the

continuous market, forming part of the IBEX-35 since 2011. It is also listed on the Euro

Stoxx Banks Price EUR, the MSCI Europe, and the MSCI Pan-Euro.

CaixaBank offers its customers the best tools and expert advice to make decisions and develop habits that form the

basis of financial well-being and enable them, for example, to appropriately plan to address recurring expenses, cover

unforeseen events, maintain purchasing power during retirement or to make their dreams and projects come true.

We do this with:

 Specialised advice.

 Personal finance simulation and monitoring tools.

 Comfortable and secure payment methods.

 A broad range of savings, pension and insurance products.

 Responsibly-granted loans.

 Overseeing the security of our customers' personal information.

Besides contributing to our customers' financial well-being, our aim is to support the progress of the whole of society.

We are a deeply-rooted retail bank in all areas in which we work and, for this reason, we feel a part of the progress of

the communities where we engage our business.

We contribute to the progress of society:

 Effectively and prudently channelling savings and financing, and guaranteeing an efficient and secure payment

system.

 Through financial inclusion and education; environmental sustainability; support for diversity; with housing aid

programs; and promoting corporate voluntary work.

 And, of course, through our collaboration with the Obra Social (social work) of the “la Caixa” Banking

Foundation, whose budget is partly nourished through the dividends that CriteriaCaixa earns from its share in

CaixaBank. A major part of this budget is funnelled into identified local needs through the CaixaBank branch

network in Spain and BPI in Portugal.

Our mission
"Helping to ensure the financial well-being of our customers while pursuing social progress".
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Business Model

MicroBank, the Group’s social bank, is a leader in the field of social inclusion,

using micro-loans and lending with a social impact. MicroBank’s objectives focus
on meeting needs that are not always covered by traditional lending systems,

while maintaining the rigour and sustainability criteria of any bank.

The objectives of MicroBank are: Main lending products offered by

MicroBank:

Job creation: launch or expansion of
businesses through granting micro-credits to
business people and micro-businesses.

Encouraging business: concession of financial
support to self-employed workers,
microenterprises and social companies in
order to boost the economy through the
launch and consolidation of businesses,
generating a positive impact on society.

Personal and family development: meeting
the financial needs of people on low incomes
through microcredits and help to get through
difficult periods.

Financial inclusion: giving new customers
access to banking services through
CaixaBank’s extensive commercial network,
as well as equal access to credit.

Generating social and environmental

benefits: providing financial support to

projects that have a positive and measurable

impact on society.

Micro-credits: collateral-free loans of up to
€25,000 granted to individuals whose
economic and social circumstances make
access to traditional bank financing difficult.

a. Families
i. 79,789 operations in 2019

ii. totalling €412.7m
iii. with an average value of €5,172

b. Businesses
i. 16,812 operations in 2019

ii. totalling €203.6m
iii. with an average value of €12,110

Other financing with social impact:

Entrepreneurship and innovation, Social

economy, Education and Health.

i. 2,727 operations in 2019

ii. totalling €108.5m
iii. with an average value of €39,802
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Responsible and Ethical Behaviour

In 2019, the Company adhered to the updates and reviews of the various corporate compliance policies approved by CaixaBank,

specifically the Internal Control Policy, the Anti-Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing Prevention Policy, the CaixaBank Group

management policy on International Sanctions and Financial Countermeasures, the General Conflicts of Interests Policy and the

Product Governance Policy. In addition, it should be noted that the Company adapted and updated corporate regulations in

accordance with MicroBank's situation and business model, approving the new versions of the Code of Ethics, the Anti-Corruption

Policy and the new Protocol for the Management of Conflicts of Interest.

Lastly, MicroBank's commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility should be noted, evidenced during the year in its adherence to

the Environmental Risk Management Policy and the Climate Change Declaration.
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Organisational Structure

Corporate Governance

Robust Corporate Governance enables companies to maintain an efficient and
methodical decision-making process, which transmits clarity in the allocation of
responsibilities, thereby avoiding potential conflicts of interest, ensuring the
efficiency of risk management and internal control, and promoting transparency.

MicroBank is governed, managed and represented by its Board of Directors,
according to the guidelines issued by CaixaBank, the Bank’s sole shareholder.
The Board of Directors approves the Bank's strategic plan, which is submitted to
the sole shareholder, and carefully monitors the Bank’s activities, examining its
balance sheet, financial situation and earnings, as well as the risks inherent to its
business.

Good governance and transparency are essential for MicroBank to safeguard the
interests and earn the confidence of all stakeholders. Therefore, the Bank has its
own Audit and Risks Committee and Appointments and Remuneration Committee
that report to the Board of Directors.

In line with best practices for risk management and control, the Bank has adopted the three lines of defence model implemented at
CaixaBank, which establishes for the second line of defence the existence of a risk management function, and a regulatory compliance
function. Therefore, the Bank has its own Control department, which liaises with CaixaBank's Regulatory Compliance Department to
ensure correct and coordinated compliance between MicroBank and its shareholder and agent, CaixaBank, in the regulatory areas
that affect it.

Shareholder structure

At year-end 2019, MicroBank had a capital stock of 90,185,564 shares, each with a nominal value of 1 euro, belonging to a single
class and series, with identical ownership and financial rights, and entered in the corresponding register. CaixaBank is the sole
shareholder of the Company.

Operations involving the purchase and sale of treasury shares by the Company, will conform to the provisions of the regulations in

force and the agreements of the general shareholders' meeting in this regard.

MicroBank acquired no treasury shares in 2019. All of MicroBank's shares are held by the sole shareholder, CaixaBank, S.A.

In the same vein, in 2019 MicroBank acquired 7,173 shares for the amount of EUR 22 thousand from its parent company CaixaBank,

S.A. At 31 December 2019, the Company held 5,635 shares in CaixaBank, S.A., amounting to EUR 19 thousand, the acquisition of

which is intended to be used as remunerations for the Company administrators.

Information on the acquisition and disposal of shares held in treasury and shares issued by the parent company during the period

is included in Note 17 "Equity" to the Financial Statements.



2019

Management Report 8

8

Risk management

MicroBank, within CaixaBank Group, maintains a comfortable capital adequacy and comfortable liquidity metrics, in line with its

business model. Taking into account the type of customers the Company serves, primarily families with a low income level, as well

as entrepreneurs and microenterprises (which are not required to provide guarantees for the granting of loans), it is expected that

the MicroBank credit portfolio will present a slightly more deteriorated risk profile than that for other customer groups within the

Group. However, the guarantees provided by the different coverage agreements entered into with the European Investment Fund

(EIF), allow the Bank to maintain its risk profile at the appropriate level, in line with the social approach of its activity.

The performance of the loans granted during the year was in line with expectations, and considering the limit on growth on the
portfolio of loans to families, which has given rise to the decrease in 2018 of the maximum gross income threshold per family unit
for accessing microcredits (up to 17,200 euros), a gradual increase in global NPLs is expected, as the loan portfolio to families has a
lower NPL rate that the portfolio of loans to entrepreneurs.

The implementation of new regulatory requirements for credit risk coverage, deriving from the entry into force of IFRS 9 at the start
of the previous year, has been performed in concert with CaixaBank, and the Bank has been included in the internal model for
calculating provisions developed by the latter, also factoring in MicroBank's portfolio profile. This ensures that sensitive issues such
as the consistency of criteria at Group level and transparency are addressed, in addition to simplifying potential future regulatory
needs (IT, regulatory reporting, internal control, etc.).

The risk management system and risk policy at MicroBank is described in further detail in Note 3 "Risk management" of these
Financial Accounts.
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Environment, foreseeable development and strategy

Economic context

Overview and markets

Decrease in the rate of economic growth: a growth rate of 2.9% is estimated, below the 2018 figure, due to the maturity of the
global economic cycle, industrial shock and geopolitical factors.

 China continues its gradual slowdown:
estimated growth for 2019 is 6.1%, below last
year's rate of 6.6%.

 The trade dispute between the United States
and China intensifies up until the summer and it
starts to change at the end of 2019: trade flows
and global activity are now feeling the effects of
the trade tensions and, even if a deal is reached,
it is unlikely to be sufficient to eliminate
uncertainty in this context.

 The US economy continues to perform well: a
growth rate of 2.3% is estimated for 2019, a solid
pace given the trade tensions and the loss of momentum from the fiscal stimulus of 2017-18.

 Greater trade tensions between the US and the European Union: a ruling by the World Trade Organization in favour of the US
concerning subsidies to Airbus from the EU results in tariffs imposed by the US on EU products. The extension of these tariffs
to new products is not ruled out.

 Weaker growth in the euro zone: the slowing trend began in 2018 is becoming more pronounced in 2019 (expected 1.1%
growth), mainly due to a downturn in foreign dynamism and the difficulties faced in the manufacturing sector (particularly
intense in the automobile industry).

 Political uncertainty in Europe: in 2019, concern about a possible disorderly Brexit has been a source of uncertainty. Following
the exit agreement reached with the EU, which eliminated this possibility, there is now concern about the complexity of
reaching a satisfactory agreement that regulates the new relationship between the UK and the EU.

 Volatility persists in financial markets: the slowdown in global growth combined with the escalation in trade tensions between
the US and China are key factors in 2019. The alleviation of trade tensions allows for a reduction in volatility and supports the
evolution of stock markets and sovereign interest rates towards the end of the year.

 The Federal Reserve goes back to monetary normalisation: against a backdrop of limited inflationary pressures and the
prospect of an economic slowdown, the Fed has lowered rates three times and, in order to tackle possible liquidity problems
in the market, it is starting a new round of asset purchases.

 The ECB confirms a new monetary stimulus package in response to the economic slowdown: interest rate cut (10 bp), new
asset purchases, lower interest rates for TLTROs, and the package is expected to remain in place until inflation reaches its
target.

2020 global outlook

Among the main economies, it is worth noting that the United States and China closed 2019 with solid growth figures. However, as
regards the latter, its growth figures for Q1 will suffer from the outbreak of the health emergency resulting from coronavirus (COVID-
19). The burden this epidemic may have on the economic indicators for Q1 2020 is not negligible. However, it remains to be seen
whether it permanently affects, in essence, what remains – both in China and in the United States – a fundamental trend of expected
and gradual slowdown, due to the transition to a tertiary economy as regards the former, and, as regards the latter, due to the
maturity of the cycle and the weakening of the fiscal stimulus implemented at the end of 2017.
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However, as mentioned above, the scenario is overshadowed by downside risk events. Geopolitical uncertainty will remain latent
(agreement between the United States and China does not resolve the underlying tensions, and trade tensions between the United
States and Europe could gain prominence, the UK and the EU must negotiate a new relationship before the end of the transition
period, etc.). Furthermore, there is high uncertainty surrounding the coronavirus outbreak and it will depend largely on medical
capabilities to curb the epidemic and bring its geographical spread under control. For the time being, the virus has spread beyond its
initial epicentre, China, and is already reaching other emerging and advanced economies.

Under this context, the Central Bank of China has begun to relax its monetary policy and it may take further steps to curb the impact
of COVID-19. Most emerging economies are cutting interest rates. In the advanced economies, the Fed also raise surprise with a 0.5
bp interest rate cut to the 1.00%-1.25% range in response to the risk posed by coronavirus. This shift which – together with its
message of ensuring that it will act to uphold economic expansion – opens the door to further interest rate cuts. As regard the fiscal
aspect, the Chinese government is designing budgetary measures to bolster the economy. Japan, another of the economies possibly
most affected by the coronavirus, had announced strong fiscal stimulus focused on public spending measures prior to the health
emergency. Lastly, the eurozone will also uphold a slightly expansionary fiscal policy in certain regions, and the governments of Italy
and Germany have already indicated specific measures.

Spain Evolution

 The economy is approaching more

moderate levels of growth: as the

economy moves into a more mature

phase of the cycle and the foreign

sector is suffering from the

deterioration of the global context,

the pace of growth is slowing,

although it remains substantial.

 Spain continues to make positive

progress: despite the slowdown,

growth remains above the majority

of developed economies.

 Consumers are more cautious: the softening of the economic outlook and the slowdown in

employment growth translates into increased savings and a reduction in consumer growth.

 Contrast between the services and manufacturing sectors: the manufacturing sector is suffering from

the deterioration of global trade flows and difficulties in the automotive sector, while the services

sector is holding a better position.

 The real estate market stabilises: after years of strong growth, both house prices and supply and

demand are showing signs of stabilising.

 New lending is slowing: this trend was mainly due to the sharp slowdown in new mortgage lending

operations, temporarily affected by the entry into force of the new mortgage law in the middle of last

year. In this respect, the data relating to the last months of the year already show some recovery in

the mortgage market.

 The economy remains sound: after six straight years of notable growth, the economy has not yet accumulated any

macroeconomic imbalances. Private sector debt remains contained, the current account is in surplus and the competitive gains

of recent years are maintained.

 The political situation, a factor to keep an eye on: after a year dominated by elections in 2019, the new coalition government

is a stabilising factor.
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2020 outlook for Spain

In 2020, this slowdown is expected to remain ongoing due to the lower drive of cyclical momentum factors, as well as the moderate
growth of the main trading partners. This trend is soundly reflected by labour market indicators, which show a loss of dynamism in
job creation and reduced unemployment. Similarly, the emergence of coronavirus and its rapid spread throughout various OECD
countries may prompt a further pronounced slowdown in the economy in 2020 than the underlying trend suggests, with growth
standing below 1.5%. The impact of coronavirus, which is estimated to be on-off and limited to a specific period of time, will be
reflected through smaller trade flows, not only with China but also with other business partners that have been affected by the virus,
and through increased uncertainty that will have a negative effect on internal demand. Should the temporary nature of the impact
of the virus be confirmed, a slight growth rebound effect could be expected in 2021. As regards the public sector, the new government
relaxed the public balance adjustment approach (it forecasts a deficit of 1.8% of GDP in 2020 and a further reduction of 3 tenths of
GDP per year in the following years). However, it should be noted that its projections uphold the deficit reduction commitment. With
this overview, it is worth noting that the downside risks surrounding the macroeconomic scenario are not negligible. Excluding
coronavirus from the list, the most noteworthy are those surrounding the international environment (e. g. geopolitical tensions and
EU-UK negotiations).

MicroBank in this environment

The 2019 financial year significantly reflects the impact of the decisions taken during the process of formulating the 2019-2021
strategic plan. Decisions aimed at maintaining MicroBank's supplementary role to traditional banks, and fulfil the mandate given by
the Board of Directors and its shareholder, CaixaBank, to hold a leading position among financial institutions with a social impact.

The gradual economic recovery seen has provided households that had serious problems obtaining financing during the last crisis
with greater access to credit. And within this context of easier access to credit, MicroBank is re-shaping its activities in line with its
strategic plan, redrawing the scope of its target customers to adapt to these new circumstances. In doing so, the Bank is maintaining
its focus on the groups that, in this new environment, may still have the most difficulties obtaining credit, considering the impact that
these types of decisions have on growth, the portfolio risk profile and the generation of profit or loss.

Previous years' management reports have disclosed the figures and ratios obtained by the Bank, which each year have given rise to
a significant increase in the volume of loans granted, the portfolio balance and the profits generated through its activities, which, in
essence, has been aimed exclusively at shoring up the Bank's own funds to strengthen and ensure the sustainability of its work during
this first stage of strong growth. The Bank is now at the stage at which the Board of Directors considers that its mission now lies in
adapting and strengthening its microfinancing activity, to continue contributing value to the groups (families or entrepreneurs) that
even today have difficulty obtaining credit, supplementing this with the knowledge and experience it has acquired in the development
of new products and services that have a positive and measurable social impact in other segments. In this regard, we highlight the
line of loans aimed at the social economy launched in 2018, thanks to the collaboration of the European Employment and Social
Innovation programme (EaSI), which now has a portfolio of EUR 15 million as at December 2019. At the same time, the Bank's strategic
targets are to continue strengthening its organisational and management capacity, adapting this to regulatory compliance
requirements, and also to make a qualitative leap in its ability to measure and unlock the value of the social impact of its activities.
This social impact is an aspect that will become increasingly relevant in decision-making, with regard to both strategy and
management.
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Technological, social and competitive context

Digital innovation offers new opportunities to be a faster and more efficient organisation and to transform customer relations.

In turn, the technological revolution is significantly altering the competitive framework in which financial institutions operate. Thus,
digitalisation is propagating the emergence of new competitors, such as Fintechs and digital platforms, known as Bigtechs, with
disruptive potential in terms of competition and services. Specifically, these new competitors tend to be more agile and flexible, have
a light cost structure, and are able to take advantage of different technologies to offer the customer a comfortable and simple user
experience at a lower cost. Likewise, for now, most of these new entrants have a highly specialised approach to specific financial
services. This differs from the traditional model, characterised by the joint provision of financial services, and can lead to a
fragmentation of the value chain, with impact on margins and cross-selling.

However, the Company believes the new entrants also represent an opportunity as a source of collaboration, learning and stimulus
for the fulfilment of the digitalisation and business transformation objectives established in the Strategic Plan. The Group regularly
monitors the main new entrants and the movements of Bigtechs towards the banking industry.

Cybercrime has increased in terms of both volume and severity, making this a higher regulatory priority on the supervisors' agenda.

The Group is aware of the importance and level of threat, which is why it holds an ongoing assessment of the technological
environment and the applications: including the integrity and confidentiality of information, systems availability and business
continuity, to planned reviews and continuous auditing through the monitoring of risk indicators defined. The Group also carries out
the relevant analyses to adapt the security protocols to new challenges and has defined a new strategic information security plan to
remain at the forefront of information protection and in accordance with the best market standards.

Society is increasingly demanding socially responsible banks that concern themselves with the social and environmental well-being
of the territories in which they have a presence. Thus, it is expected that the areas of financial inclusion and education, of compliance
culture and environmental risk management will become more relevant in the financial sector.

In this regard, measures related to the management of ESG (environmental, social and governance) risks have been given a greater
focus throughout this year. One notable example is the far-reaching actions set out in the European Commission's Green New Deal,
which will be translated into specific legislative initiatives. From the point of view of the business in the environmental area, these
initiatives could materialise in elements such as potential exposure to sectors with intensive carbon emissions or high exposure to
risks associated with the energy transition.

In anticipation, the principles and values that form the foundation of the Group, and MicroBank in particular, are closely aligned with
the ESG principles, although the increasing level of demand for sustainability in the sector means a greater potential reputational
impact.

In this regard, the Group actively monitors the developments and initiatives in the aforementioned fields, e.g. participating in the
sector debate of European guidelines on Spanish legislation Spanish. CaixaBank is also a signatory and is committed to multiple
initiatives and working groups to address, among other aspects, the improvement of management and reporting in these areas.

Similarly, within the framework of a rigorous, responsible and transparent decision-making process, the Group takes into account
the ESG implications deriving from its admission and investment policy. In this sense it strives to optimise the risk/return ratio and
avoid, minimise, mitigate or remedy, insofar as possible, those factors that could entail risk for the environment or community.

MicroBank's 2019-2021 Strategic Plan sets out the new direction the Bank intends to pursue, based on its determined willingness to
contribute to the progress and well-being of society by providing access to financing to those groups and projects that generate a
positive social impact. Thus, without forgetting microcredits, which are the fundamental pillar of its activity, the Bank aims to become
the leader in banking with a social impact by developing a value proposal extended to new groups and sectors on which it had not
previously focused, and which work for the progress of society.

Through its activity, MicroBank contributes to the attainment of the Sustainable Development Goals, with a focus on the following:
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One of MicroBank's main challenges is to measure and unlock the value of the social impact of its activity. In this regard, work is being
carried out on a new system for measuring social impact that will allow us not only to see it at a certain time, but also to monitor it
in order to be able to assess its evolution.

Although microcredits mainly contribute to the labour market through self-employment projects, 35% of the microenterprises
surveyed were able to hire more workers in the months following the granting of the microcredit, and 51% plan to hire new
employees during the next financial year.

The companies created or expanded that received microcredits have directly generated an average of 1.2 jobs. Considering that
16,812 microcredits were granted to entrepreneurs and microenterprises in 2019, we can say that microcredits have directly
contributed to the creation of 20,174 jobs during this period. Furthermore, we have also contributed to the creation of 9,002 new
businesses during 2019.
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Business Performance

During 2019, MicroBank's financial position evolved satisfactorily. Net profit stood at EUR 35 million (EUR 31 million in 2018).

The year is closed with an outstanding balance of EUR 1,583 million, up 2% on 2018. The significant volume of loans granted to
households during the year stands out, with eighty thousand microcredits, for an amount of EUR 414 million (although there was a
22% decrease compared with December 2018), giving rise to a balance of EUR 1,016 million (down 6% year-on-year). Over nineteen
thousand microcredits were granted to entrepreneurs and businesses, slightly more than the previous year, for a total of EUR 311
million and a final portfolio balance of EUR 567 million (up 18% on 2018).

The guarantee agreements arranged with the European Investment Fund remain in place for the following programmes:

- "COSME", which offers MicroBank partial NPL coverage on loans extended to entrepreneurs and microenterprises, and for which

an increase of up to EUR 1,200 million has been agreed for loans granted between December 2017 and 3 December 2021.

- "Master Erasmus+", providing financing for Erasmus master’s degrees, through a product designed specifically for this purpose,

focusing especially on university students with low incomes. This agreement has enabled these students to carry on their studies

in European universities beyond the borders of their country of residence.

- And, most recently, the "EaSI" (Employment and Social Innovation) programme, to which the bank attaches great importance,

because by covering NPL losses during the two and a half years of the agreement (ending on 31 January 2021), it has allowed

the Bank to launch and establish one of the new lines of action contemplated in its strategic plan: financing for companies and

entities involved the social economy. This agreement features a total credit amount of up to EUR 50 million, with a maximum of

EUR 500,000 per borrower (although an initial average unit amount of EUR 150,000 is projected), providing coverage for 80% of

losses, with a maximum limit for write-offs at 15% of the volume of loans extended.

MicroBank has supplemented its activity with other lines of credit, which while not having a material impact in terms of the amount
of the loans on the portfolio, are important due to their social impact for particularly vulnerable groups or those with specific
difficulties accessing loans. Therefore, based on the agreement with the Asociación Proyecto Confianza signed in 2016, in 2019 almost
three hundred loans were granted for a total amount of EUR 635 thousand aimed at extremely vulnerable people, who previously
received support through support groups set up to boost the self-esteem and dignity of their members. The agreement signed with
"la Caixa" Banking Foundation in 2018 to help unsuccessful candidates for the prestigious “la Caixa” grants programme continue their
studies abroad, also stands out. In this case, students with an excellent record are given the possibility of obtaining a special type of
loan from MicroBank, which they can start to repay when they have found a job, and they do not have to give up their planned
training projects. The “la Caixa” Banking Foundation offers MicroBank partial coverage of potential losses for write-offs (through a
similar scheme to the Master Erasmus+ programme) and gives students the additional advantage of covering the interest on their
loans until they complete their studies. The first group of around twenty students has already benefited from this scheme and the
number of beneficiaries is expected to gradually increase. Although it still operates with relatively modest numbers, a new line of
financing is also being promoted in the field of health, which the Bank hopes will become increasingly important within its catalogue
of services relating to other financing with a social impact, complementing the traditional offer of microcredits.

A substantial part of MicroBank's strategic lines has been, and will continue to be in the future, its more than five hundred
collaborating entities (universities, public administrations and bodies, chambers of commerce, etc.), which have signed agreements
with the Bank, and which offer support and advisory services to entrepreneurs for whom microcredits are a pivotal tool for the
realisation of their business plans. In the last year, some 1,500 loans were granted through the collaborating entities, for an amount
of EUR 29 million. This year once again, the collaboration agreement with the "Incorpora" Project of “la Caixa” Obra Social should be
noted for its relevance and social impact. In 2019, this project contributed to the arrangement of some 350 loans (EUR 6.2 million)
to help people at risk of social exclusion gain a foothold in the labour market through self-employment.

We should also note that MicroBank fulfils the mandate from CaixaBank to run the "la Caixa" Monte de Piedad pawnbroker business.
Loans awarded by Monte de Piedad are secured by the appraisal value of the jewellery pledged as collateral by customers, providing
an effective solution for many people, to tide them over when they are temporarily short of cash. In 2019, almost 17,000 new secured
loans were granted for a total amount of EUR 17 million. In the management of this loan portfolio the Bank employs a prudent credit
risk management policy (bearing in mind changes in the appraisal value of the jewellery) alongside the social commitment that this
activity has historically implied. To increase the efficiency of Monte de Piedad, new direct appraisal services for jewellery were
launched, in addition to their temporary custodianship and auction, enabling the existing capacity of the four centres located in
Tenerife, Seville, Madrid and Barcelona to be better used, improving contribution of solutions to customers, and boosting the
diversification and sustainability of its activity
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The Group's total assets amounted to €391,414 million at 31 December 2019 (up 1.3% compared to year-end 2018). CaixaBank Group's
main figures are as follows, including those corresponding to MicroBank:

In millions of euros Group MicroBank

31.12.19 31.12.18 31.12.19 31.12.18

Total assets 391,414 386,546 1,533 1,512

Total liabilities 366,263 362.182 1.174 1.179

Equity1 25.151 24.364 359 333

Asset quality

At year-end, non-performing assets totalled EUR 66 million, putting the accounting NPL ratio at 4.19%. The write-off ratio (debt
transferred to write-offs as a percentage of accumulated past-due or cancelled credit since the start of activity, excluding refinancing)
was 5.38%, before applying EIF coverage, and 3.99% having applied the amounts recoverable by way of the guarantees arranged with
that organisation through different agreements. These figures demonstrate that the quality of risk in the loan book remains within a
prudential range we deem to be acceptable.

The net cost for NPLs recognised in 2019 was EUR 51 million (EUR 63 million in costs relating to non-performing debts less EUR 12
million in income from the agreement with the EIF and recognised in the same year). Loan-loss provisions at the end of the year stood
at EUR 102 million, of which around 46% relates to provisions for non-performing assets. This total volume of provisions implies an
NPL coverage ratio of 154%, 138% adjusted for the amount of income expected in relation to the offset of allowances for transactions
covered by the EIF.

The risk management system and risk policy at MicroBank is described in further detail in Note 3 "Risk management" of these
Financial Accounts.

1 Capital assigned to businesses for the purposes of calculating ROTE (own funds + valuation adjustments).
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Liquidity and financing structure

The Group manages liquidity risk to maintain sufficient levels so that it can comfortably meet all its payment obligations and to
prevent its investment activities from being affected by a lack of lendable funds, at all times within the risk appetite framework.

The Group's main liquidity and funding structure figures are as follows:

(1) Data corresponding to the consolidated CaixaBank perimeter without BPI (reporting and regulatory compliance perimeter).
HQLA: High Quality Liquid Assets

There are regulatory liquidity requirements that, in the case of the consolidated CaixaBank perimeter without BPI (reporting and
regulatory compliance perimeter) are as follows:

 The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) (average for the last 12 months) on 31 December 2019 stands at 186%, well above the
minimum required level of 100%.

 The Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)2 on 31 December 2019 stands at 129%, above the minimum regulatory requirement of
100% from June 2021.

In the case of MicroBank, the Bank is basically exposed to daily demands on its available liquid resources as a result of contractual
obligations relating to the credit drawdowns.

For another year running, we would also highlight the close commercial relationship between the MicroBank and both the Council
of Europe Development Bank, with a debt balance of EUR 196 million (including the new EUR 50 million credit drawdown carried out
in 2019 and with which a new loan of EUR 100 million has been arranged, available for draw down, to provide financing for
entrepreneurs and microenterprises), and the European Investment Bank, with a debt balance of EUR 160 at year-end. This financing
is a fundamental addition to the credit line provided by CaixaBank to the Bank, which resulted in a debt volume of EUR 699 million
(EUR 664 million of which corresponds to loans and EUR 35 million to the drawn down balance on the credit account).

Note 3.6 "Liquidity risk" to these financial statements describes the Bank's strategic principles, risk strategy and risk appetite in
relation to liquidity and funding risk.

2 Calculations applying the criteria established as per regulation (EU) 2019/876, to enter into force as of June 2021 (interpretation of the aforementioned criteria).

in millions of euros and % 31.12.19 31.12.18

Total liquid assets (1) 89,427 79,530

Of which: balance available in non-HQLA facility 34,410 22,437

Of which: HQLA 55,017 57,093

Institutional Financing 32,716 29,453
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Capital management

The decisions of the European Central Bank (ECB) and the national supervisor required CaixaBank Group in 2019 to maintain CET1

of 8.78%3, 10.28% for Tier 1 and 12.28% for Total Capital.

Below are the main indicators of CaixaBank Group.

At year-end, MicroBank's own funds totalled EUR 339 million, with capital of EUR 90 million, reserves of EUR 234 million and net
profit of EUR 35 million. This own funds figure stands at 23.4% of total assets and is well above the regulatory capital requirements
estimated using advanced measurement approaches for calculating own funds required for credit, operational and other risk, which
at December 2019 stood at EUR 103 million.

This volume of own funds, the availability of a sales network of over 4,000 branches, the substantial organisational support provided
by the Group and permanent access to financing, are some of the key advantages offered by our sole shareholder, CaixaBank.

Within the framework of CaixaBank Group, and in accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned regulations, in 2009 the
Company obtained from the Bank of Spain, the exemption from individual compliance with the general own funds requirements,
stating that the Company meets all the requirements of the regulations in force for these purposes, and there are no future or
foreseeable practical impediments or legal instruments for the immediate transfer of own funds or reimbursement of liabilities.

Solvency information is included in Note 4 of the accompanying financial statements.

3 Includes the countercyclical buffer of 0.03% due to exposure in other countries (mainly the United Kingdom and Norway).

In millions of euros and % 31.12.19 31.12.18

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio 12.0% 11.5%

Tier 1 ratio 13.5% 13.0%

Total capital 15.7% 15.3%

Risk-weighted assets (RWAs) 147,880 145,942



2019

Management Report 18

18

Non-financial information

The non-financial information of Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U., is contained in point 03: Statement of non-financial information, of

CaixaBank Group's Consolidated Management Report.

Events after the reporting period

The global spread of COVID-19 has generated an unprecedented health crisis to date. This event significantly affects economic activity
and, as a result, could affect the financial situation of the Company. The measurement of the impact will depend on future
developments that cannot be reliably predicted, including actions to contain the illness or treat it and curb its impact on the
economies of the affected countries. As a result of the foregoing, currently, it is not recommended to forecast the medium-term
macroeconomic outlook, or the supporting social and economic policies that are being implemented by the governments of the
affected countries, among others. Since it belong to the CaixaBank Group, the Company has the necessary business continuity
measures in the event of crises.


